
Annual Report
2021–2022

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
AND COMMUNITY SAFETY



Publication information

The Department of Justice and Community Safety acknowledges the traditional owners of the land on which 
we work, and pays respect to their Elders past, present and emerging. 

‘Aboriginal’ is used as the Department of Justice and Community Safety’s standard reference for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people. Prior to June 2018, ‘Koori’ was used as the department’s standard reference, 
and this term continues to be used in some departmental business units, affiliated organisations and 
documents, including the Koori Justice Unit, the Koori Courts, and the department’s Koori Inclusion Action 
Plan 2017–2020, Yarrwul Loitjba Yapaneyepuk – Walk the Talk Together. 

September 2022

Authorised and published by the Victorian Government, 1 Treasury Place, Melbourne. 

ISSN 1320-8543 

This report is protected by copyright. Apart from any use permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, and those 
explicitly granted below, all other rights are reserved.

Accessibility

Also published in an accessible format on www.justice.vic.gov.au.

This work, the Department of Justice and Community Safety Annual Report 2021–22, is licensed under a 
Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/
licenses/by/4.0/. You are free to re-use the work under that licence, on the condition that you credit the State 
of Victoria (Department of Justice and Community Safety) as author, indicate if changes were made, and 
comply with the other licence terms.



Report of Operations | Annual Report  21–22

Contents

Responsible Body’s declaration ............................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4

Justice and Community Safety ministers and portfolios ................................................................................................................................................. 4

Secretary’s foreword ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................5

About us...........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................7

Report of Operations .........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................13

Delivering on the department’s objectives ...................................................................................................................................................................................15

Ensuring community safety through policing, law enforcement and crime prevention activities ....................................15

Reduce the impact of, and consequences from, natural disasters and other emergencies on people, 
infrastructure, the economy and the environment .......................................................................................................................................................19

Effective management of prisoners and offenders and provision of opportunities for 
rehabilitation and reparation...........................................................................................................................................................................................................23

Effective supervision of children and young people through the provision of  
youth justice services promoting rehabilitation ............................................................................................................................................................. 27

A fair and accessible justice system that supports confidence in the Victorian community ...............................................29

Victorians are protected with equal opportunities, secure identities,  
information freedoms and privacy rights ............................................................................................................................................................................ 35

A fair marketplace for Victorian consumers and businesses with responsible and  
sustainable liquor and gambling sectors ............................................................................................................................................................................. 39

Additional initiatives and achievements aligned to supporting priorities ...............................................................................................41

Five-year financial summary and review of financial conditions ..........................................................................................................................43

Disclosure of grants and other transfers (other than contributions by owners) ......................................................................................44

Report structure ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................46

Declaration in the financial statements.........................................................................................................................................................................................48

Independent auditor’s report ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................49

Comprehensive operating statement .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 53

Balance sheet......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 54

Cash flow statement .........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................55

Statement of changes in equity ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 56

Notes to financial statements ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................57

1. Disclosure index  ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 102

2. Budget Portfolio Outcomes ....................................................................................................................................................................................................104

3. Objective indicators and output performance measures .......................................................................................................................... 110

4.  Statutory authorities and offices by ministerial portfolio 2021–22 .......................................................................................................137

5.  Acts administered by justice and community safety portfolios as at 30 June 2022 ......................................................... 139

6.  Legislation enacted in 2021–22 (passed between 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022) .................................................................. 148

7.  People management .................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 149

8.  Environmental performance and targets ................................................................................................................................................................... 178

9. Assurance ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................185

10.  Statutory compliance ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................188

11.  Service Delivery Outcomes (Prisons) ............................................................................................................................................................................. 198

12.  Additional information ...............................................................................................................................................................................................................200

13.  Acronyms ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................201



Department of Justice and Community Safety 4

Responsible Body’s declaration

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Department of Justice and 
Community Safety’s Annual Report for the year ending 30 June 2022.

Rebecca Falkingham 
Secretary Department of Justice and Community Safety

September 2022

Justice and Community Safety ministers and portfolios

As at 30 June 2022, the department supported five ministers across nine portfolios. 

Jaclyn Symes MP
Attorney-General
Minister for Emergency Services

Jaclyn Symes MP was appointed Attorney-General in December 2020 and Minister for 
Emergency Services in August 2021. The Attorney-General is the State’s first law officer. 
The Minister for Emergency Services has broad responsibilities for supporting the State’s 
emergency service sector to reduce the likelihood, effect and consequences of emergencies.

The Hon Anthony Carbines MP
Minister for Police 
Minister for Crime Prevention

The Hon. Anthony Carbines MP was appointed Minister for Police and Minister for Crime 
Prevention in June 2022. The Minister has broad responsibilities for policing policy settings and 
priorities and is responsible for enhancing community safety through crime prevention activities.

The Hon. Natalie Hutchins MP
Minister for Corrections
Minister for Youth Justice
Minister for Victim Support

The Hon. Natalie Hutchins MP has been the Minister for Corrections, Minister for Youth Justice, 
and Minister for Victim Support since June 2020. The Minister for Corrections is responsible 
for the effective management of adult prisoners and offenders, and provision of opportunities 
for rehabilitation and reparation. The Minister for Youth Justice is responsible for the effective 
diversion, rehabilitation or supervision of young people through the provision of youth justice 
services promoting rehabilitation. The Minister for Victim Support is responsible for providing 
support to victims of crime.

The Hon. Melissa Horne MP
Minister for Consumer Affairs, Gaming and Liquor Regulation

The Hon. Melissa Horne MP was appointed Minister for Consumer Affairs, Gaming and Liquor 
Regulation in June 2020. The Minister is responsible for the administration of consumer 
protection legislation, which seeks to ensure that Victorian businesses and consumers are 
informed, and for the regulation and licensing of the gambling and liquor industries.

Ingrid Stitt MP
Minister for Workplace Safety

Ingrid Stitt MP was appointed Minister for Workplace Safety in September 2020. The Minister for 
Workplace Safety is responsible for the administration of occupational health and safety and 
workers’ compensation legislation, which seeks to ensure that Victorian workplaces are safe 
and that injured workers are supported to recover and return to work.

Ministry changes
The Hon. Lisa Neville MP was the Minister for Police until 27 June 2022. 

The Hon. Natalie Hutchins MP was the Minister for Crime Prevention until 27 June 2022. 

The Hon. Sonya Kilkenny MP was appointed Minister for Corrections, Minister for Youth Justice and Minister for 
Victim Support on 4 July 2022.
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Secretary’s foreword

I am pleased to present the 2021-22 Department 
of Justice and Community Safety Annual Report, 
highlighting the department’s many achievements 
and progress towards our vision for a justice and 
community safety system that works together to build 
a safer, fairer and stronger Victoria.

Significant reforms to the justice system were 
implemented throughout 2021-22, while the department 
also maintained a strong focus on service delivery 
and improvement. This included the Adult Custodial 
Corrections System review, rehabilitation and crime 
prevention initiatives, as well as improvements to 
better protect and support vulnerable people.

On 17 February 2022, Victoria’s first Aboriginal Youth 
Justice Strategy, Wirkara Kulpa, was launched. 
Aboriginal self-determination is the foundational 
principle that has shaped the Strategy. The Aboriginal 
Justice Caucus led this work under the umbrella of the 
Aboriginal Justice Agreement, and it is a key initiative 
of Burra Lotjpa Dunguludja (AJA4), and the Youth 
Justice Strategic Plan 2020-2030. 

Developed in parallel and building on evidence and 
data collected by the Commission for Children and 
Young People’s Our Youth Our Way inquiry and the 
Koori Youth Justice Taskforce, Wirkara Kulpa addresses 
56 of the 75 recommendations made in the combined 
Taskforce and Inquiry report.

An independent Cultural Review into the Adult 
Custodial Corrections System commenced in 2021. The 
Review’s findings will help to strengthen the safety, 
wellbeing and culture of the adult custodial system 
for staff and people in custody. The Review will also 
improve how systems and processes address the 
complex needs of vulnerable people in custody, and 
will make specific recommendations to strengthen the 
cultural safety of Aboriginal people in custody.

Rehabilitation and reintegration programs are 
critical to enhancing community safety and reducing 
reoffending. As part of a focus on improving women’s 
outcomes through support services and programs, 
a housing and case management support program 
is being provided to women on remand and serving 
sentences of three months or less. The department 
has also implemented Family Engagement Workers in 
Victoria’s two women’s prisons to assist women to heal 
fractured and problematic relationships and to work 
on strategies to assist in their return from prison.  

Corrections Victoria has created new job pathways 
for people leaving prison through partnerships 
established with textile and food wholesaling 
businesses. Vocational training and education inside 
prisons equips prisoners with skills and provides job-
ready workers for commercial partners.

Initiatives under the new Crime Prevention Strategy are 
underway, including the Building Safer Communities 
program, with all projects funded from two rounds 
of grants in progress in 2022. The Community Safety 
Infrastructure Grants program is nearing completion 
and other key initiatives aligned with the Strategy are 
continuing.

The State Control Centre (SCC) continued its work as 
Victoria’s primary control centre for the management 
of emergencies, including bushfires, floods, storms, 
and emergency coordination of COVID-19. Dedicated 
staff supported the SSC to operate 24-hours, 7 days 
a week, making positive and effective contributions 
to managing emergencies and providing 
continuous support to the Emergency Management 
Commissioner and the broader emergency 
management sector.

The department continues to progress implementing 
the Fines Reform Advisory Board’s recommendations. 
These changes will enable better support for 
vulnerable fine recipients, improve departmental 
processes relating to fines service delivery and will 
create a more efficient and effective fines system.

The department implemented several key pieces 
of legislative reform across the state, including the 
Victims of Crime (Financial Assistance Scheme) Act 
2022, which passed in June 2022 and establishes 
the Financial Assistance Scheme. The Scheme aims 
to protect victims from further trauma, intimidation 
or distress, and ensure that the needs, safety and 
wellbeing of victims are paramount. Victims will have 
up to three years to apply (10 years for family violence 
or sexual offences) compared to the two-years 
currently provided by the Victims of Crime Assistance 
Tribunal (VOCAT). Additionally, the amount of Special 
Financial Assistance available will be doubled. 
Victims will also be able to request victim recognition 
statements and victim recognition meetings.  

The Victims of Crime Assistance Act 1996 has been 
amended to protect the safety and wellbeing of 
victims by prohibiting the notification of perpetrators 
(or alleged perpetrators) about a VOCAT hearing in 
matters involving family violence or sexual offences. 
Alleged offenders will also be prohibited from 
attending VOCAT hearings and victims will no longer 
face the perpetrator in these hearings.

The Terrorism (Community Protection) Amendments 
Act 2021, passed in November 2021, creates a civil 
Support and Engagement Order and establishes a 
multi-agency panel to coordinate therapeutic-based 
intervention and an information sharing scheme. The 
government is progressing the implementation of 
the Act, including operationalising the intervention 
and information sharing scheme in preparation for 
commencement on 2 September 2022.

The Justice Legislation Amendment Act 2022, which 
passed in May 2022, included changes to information 
sharing and allowing new birth certificates to include 
the details of pre- and post-adoptive parents. This 
supports the implementation of recommendations 
resulting from the Inquiry into Responses to Historical 
Forced Adoptions in Victoria, with a variety of areas in 
scope for change, relating to redress, centralisation of 
functions, records management, data publication, and 
community support. 

The Casino and Gambling Legislation Amendment 
Act 2021 passed in December 2021, establishing the 
Victorian Gambling and Casino Control Commission 
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that came into effect on 1 January 2022. The Act 
strengthened the Commission’s powers to hold 
the casino operator to account and increased the 
maximum fine for disciplinary action from $1 million to 
$100 million.

Amendments to the Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 
passed in October 2021 include provisions for a 
definition of harm that factors in social issues such 
as family violence. Further work will continue with 
stakeholders to embed a focus on family violence 
within liquor licensing policy.

The Sex Work Decriminalisation Act 2022 passed in 
February 2022 and supports sex workers’ safety and 
human rights, aiming to ensure that sex work is safe 
work.

A range of sex work decriminalisation reforms will 
be implemented over two years. The first stage 
commenced 10 May and included criminal penalties 
no longer applying in many circumstances for people 
participating in sex work.

Finally, I would like to thank our staff, agencies, 
community organisations and volunteers for their 
hard work and commitment to implementing reforms 
that will help improve outcomes for the Victorian 
community. I also want to recognise the resilience 
and dedication of everyone who has continued to 
deliver essential services as Victoria recovers from the 
COVID-19 pandemic.
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About us

The department’s vision is for a justice and community safety system that works 
together to build a safer, fairer and stronger Victoria. 

The department leads the delivery of justice and 
community safety services in Victoria by providing 
policy and organisational management. Its extensive 
service delivery responsibilities range from managing 
the State’s prison system, to providing consumer 
protection and enforcing court warrants.

The department manages the development and 
implementation of a range of laws, regulations and 
policy in areas across the portfolio (such as in gaming 

and emergency management) and ensures all 
elements of the justice and community safety system 
are working efficiently and effectively.

Through partnerships with independent integrity 
agencies, the department supports best practice and 
the promotion of the highest levels of accountability 
and transparency in the public sector and local 
government. 

Departmental structure at 30 June 2022

Our groups at 30 June 2022
Aboriginal Justice
The Aboriginal Justice group drives systemic change 
in the justice system, to connect, support and deliver 
better outcomes for the Aboriginal community. The 
group works in partnership with Traditional Owners 
and the Victorian Aboriginal community to embed 
the principles of self-determination in the justice 
sector. The group plays a significant role in the 
implementation of the Burra Lotjpa Dunguludja: 

Aboriginal Justice Agreement Phase 4 (AJA4), leads 
justice policy and legislative reform pertaining to 
Aboriginal Victorians and leads Victoria’s response 
for Native Title. The group also oversees the 
department’s contributions to government responses 
to the Yoorrook Justice Commission and delivers 
the Victorian Government’s Stolen Generations 
Reparations Package.
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Consumer Affairs, Liquor, Gaming and Dispute Services
The Consumer Affairs, Liquor, Gaming and Dispute 
Services group brings together the consumer 
protection, regulation and dispute resolution functions 
of the department. The group supports businesses and 
the broader Victorian community through regulation of 
consumer affairs and residential tenancies, provision 
of dispute resolution services to the community, and 
policy advice on liquor and gambling, consumer 
protection and other legislation.

Corporate Governance and Support
The Corporate Governance and Support group supports 
the department to deliver positive outcomes for the 
community through responsive, reliable, and efficient 
corporate services. The group’s focus is on providing 
services that add value and are adaptable to business 
needs, while maintaining high standards and compliance.

Corrections and Justice Services
The Corrections and Justice Services group plays an 
integral role in developing safer and more resilient 
communities and in delivering a trusted justice and 
community safety system. The group oversees the 
Victorian adult correctional system, which includes 
custodial and community corrections, Victoria’s 
post-sentence scheme and justice health services for 
people in prisons and youth justice centres. 

Emergency Management Victoria
Emergency Management Victoria (EMV) leads 
emergency management in Victoria by maximising the 
ability of the emergency management sector to work 
together and to strengthen the capacity of communities 
to achieve our shared vision of safer and more resilient 
communities. EMV shares responsibility with a range of 
agencies, organisations and departments for ensuring 
the system of emergency management in Victoria is 
sustainable, effective and community focused.

Integrity, Legal and Law Reform
Integrity, Legal and Law Reform supports the Attorney-
General and justice ministers to deliver criminal and 
civil law policy responsibilities and legislative and 
court system reform by providing legal, policy, integrity 
and assurance expertise. The group supports 45 
independent legal, assurance and integrity entities 
across the justice portfolio, working collaboratively 
across the justice system and the department to 
ensure policy and legislative reform is strategic, 
relevant, holistic and people-centred.

Justice Infrastructure / Community Safety 
Building Authority
The Community Safety Building Authority (CSBA) was 
established to design, procure, build and upgrade the 
justice infrastructure needed to keep communities 
safe. The CSBA provides the end-to-end project 
management and delivery of Victoria’s new prisons, 
youth justice centres, court and custody facilities, 
emergency services facilities and public safety features. 
As well as delivering new infrastructure, the CSBA also 
modernises, expands and upgrades existing facilities.

People, Safety and Culture
People, Safety and Culture leads the department’s 
strategic people functions to ensure our people have 
the right skills, capabilities, culture, and safe working 
environment to achieve its priorities as set out in 

the department’s Statement of Direction. The group 
is responsible for recruitment and payroll services, 
employee and workplace relations, health, safety and 
wellbeing, injury management, workers compensation, 
learning and development, workforce diversity and 
inclusion and organisational transformation and design.

Police, Fines and Crime Prevention
The Police, Fines and Crime Prevention group enhances 
community safety and wellbeing through public policy, 
governance, legislative advice and reform. The group 
provides registry, adoption and worker screening services, 
community crime prevention advice and programs, and 
management of the end-to-end infringements system 
and enforcement activities. The group also works to 
enhance community safety through work to counter 
violent extremism, management of the Road Safety 
Camera Program, and the design and implementation of a 
number of restorative engagement and redress schemes. 

Service Delivery Reform, Coordination and 
Workplace Safety
The Service Delivery Reform, Coordination and 
Workplace Safety group is responsible for coordinating 
the justice and social services systems to ensure they 
work effectively together and account for the specific 
needs of the community. This includes driving reforms 
in family violence, mental health, the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS) and workplace safety. The 
group is also responsible for the Better, Connected 
Care reform, which seeks to deliver better connected 
and earlier intervention services to improve outcomes 
for people with multiple needs and reduce demand 
on acute services. The group manages the whole-of-
department strategic approach to communications, 
stakeholder partnerships and the delivery of our 
inclusion and intersectionality agenda. The group also 
operates services for victims of crime and leads reform 
to improve system responsiveness.

Youth Justice
Youth Justice is responsible for the statutory 
supervision of children and young people in contact 
with the justice system in Victoria. Children and young 
people who are involved in the youth justice system 
are either supervised in the community, or within Youth 
Justice custodial facilities. Youth Justice also operates 
the Children’s Court Youth Diversion Service. Youth 
Justice works with these children and young people 
to address the underlying causes of their offending 
behaviour and help them to achieve positive change in 
their lives. Youth Justice also funds community service 
organisations to deliver supports with a strong focus 
on diversion, early intervention and an evidence-based 
rehabilitative approach with young people to reduce 
further offending and enhance community safety.

Our Statement of Direction
The department strives to achieve safer and more 
resilient communities, a trusted justice and community 
safety system with easy access to justice and safety 
systems and services, and a fair and accessible justice 
system for Aboriginal people. 

The department’s Statement of Direction 2019–23 reflects 
these outcomes and guides its delivery of government 
and ministerial priorities. The statement sets the direction 
of the department and enables us to meaningfully 
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evaluate how we are making a difference by mapping 
out our vision, outcomes, priorities and actions. 

The department provides policy and organisational 
management to deliver its vision of a safer, fairer and 
stronger Victoria by:

• integrating services and tailoring them for local 
communities

• prioritising Victorians in need
• focusing on victims and survivors 
• strengthening stakeholder partnerships.

Focusing on the following supporting priorities enables 
the department to realise its policy and delivery 
priorities, and to ensure it is in the best position 
to achieve its overall outcomes for the Victorian 
community. The department aims to foster a positive 
and productive environment where our people thrive 
in their roles, and where the systems and capabilities 
are in place to make it easier to collaborate across the 
department and beyond. We seek to achieve this by:

• ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident
• delivering evidence-based outcomes
• investing in technology and digital solutions
• driving productivity.

The Statement of Direction helps us to embed a focus 
on outcomes in our work so that we can assess the 
impact of our services for the Victorian community. 
While the department continues to report on 
output performance (what is delivered) in line with 
government requirements, work has also commenced 
to monitor progress towards the outcomes set out 
in the statement. This approach to measuring and 
assessing impact provides insights to inform future 
decisions, allowing us to review and refine programs, 
ensuring that they remain fit for purpose and 
responsive to policy and service delivery contexts. 

Corporate Governance
Under the Public Administration Act 2004, the 
Secretary is responsible for the general conduct and 
effective, efficient and economical management of the 
department. Several standing executive committees 
ensure good corporate governance, with a focus on 
improving organisational performance. 

The Board of Management is the peak body in the 
department’s corporate governance structure, 
advising the Secretary on the management 
and administration of the department to ensure 
compliance with government directives, guidelines and 
legislation. It is responsible for integrating governance 
functions across the department and working 
collaboratively with portfolio agencies.

Board of Management at 30 June 2022
Rebecca Falkingham, Secretary

Rebecca has been the Secretary since 2018, driving 
improvements in the department’s operations and 
service delivery. Since the beginning of the COVID-19 
pandemic, Rebecca has overseen the department’s 
work to identify and adopt new ways in which justice 
services and systems could continue in settings 
necessary to support public health and better 

serve our community. Prior to becoming Secretary, 
Rebecca was Deputy Secretary, Social Policy and 
Service Delivery Reform at the Department of Premier 
and Cabinet (DPC). Her achievements in that role 
included leading the establishment of Family Safety 
Victoria, the commencement of the Treaty process 
with Aboriginal Victorians, and the ongoing transition 
of the NDIS.

Peta McCammon, Associate Secretary

Peta has built a successful career over the last 20 
years working in the Victorian Public Service (VPS) 
for the Department of Justice and Community Safety, 
the Department of Health and Human Services 
(DHHS), the Department of Treasury and Finance 
(DTF) and DPC. Peta is committed to social policy 
reform and prior to her current appointment as 
Associate Secretary, Peta was a Deputy Secretary 
at Department of Justice and Community Safety. In 
addition, she has held executive positions supporting 
the rollout of the NDIS and the implementation of the 
227 Royal Commission recommendations into Family 
Violence.

Ryan Phillips, Deputy Secretary, Corrections and 
Justice Services

Ryan has been the Deputy Secretary for Corrections 
and Justice Services since 2019. He previously led the 
department’s Criminal Law Policy and Operations 
group as Deputy Secretary from 2017. Prior to his 
appointment in the department, he was employed 
in a range of senior executive positions in the VPS, 
including as Executive Director, Social Policy, and 
General Counsel at DPC. Ryan has held a diverse 
range of policy, social justice and legal roles across the 
government, Aboriginal community and private sectors 
in Melbourne, Broome and Sydney.

Larissa Strong, Commissioner, Corrections Victoria

Larissa was appointed as the Commissioner of 
Corrections Victoria (CV) in February 2022, following 
her role as Acting Commissioner for CV since June 
2020. Prior to her appointment as the Commissioner, 
Larissa was the Deputy Commissioner of Community 
Operations and Offender Services, where she 
was responsible for overseeing Victoria’s post-
sentence scheme that provides for the ongoing 
detention or supervision of certain serious sex and 
violent offenders; CV’s rehabilitation, reintegration, 
education, training and employment programs, the 
Naalamba Ganbu and Nerrlinggu Yilam and Forensic 
Intervention Services across the state. Prior to joining 
CV in 2016, Larissa led Justice Health, and brings a 
wealth of experience in service development and 
implementation across complex human services.

Bill Kyriakopoulos, Deputy Secretary, Service Delivery 
Reform, Coordination and Workplace Safety

Bill Kyriakopoulos is the Deputy Secretary, Service 
Delivery Reform, Coordination and Workplace Safety. 
He has worked in a range of roles across the public 
sector at both the state and federal level, and in the 
private sector, including at the Department of Treasury 
and Finance and National Australia Bank. Bill has a 
wealth of experience in corporate affairs, media and 
communications, and public policy.
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Josh Smith, Acting Deputy Secretary, Youth Justice

Josh is a Dunghutti man from the Macleay Valley 
Coast in New South Wales (NSW) with connections 
to Gumbayngirr people. After practising law as a 
solicitor for the NSW Crown Solicitors Office and 
at the Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service, Josh has 
held executive positions within the Victorian public 
service across family violence and health and human 
services portfolios, and Aboriginal affairs. Josh 
was instrumental in establishing the intersectional 
approach to responding to family violence following 
the state’s Family Violence Royal Commission and 
developing the legislative architecture for Victoria’s 
Treaty process.

Jodi Henderson, Commissioner, Youth Justice

Jodi has worked in the public sector for over twenty 
years including in the Department of Education and 
Training (DET), DHHS and the Department of Justice 
and Community Safety. Prior to being appointed the 
Commissioner for Youth Justice, she held various 
senior executive roles in the Justice sector including 
Justice Regional Director and Executive Director, 
North Area and Loddon Mallee Region, Chief Executive 
Officer at Malmsbury Youth Justice Precinct and 
Assistant Director, Youth Justice Custodial Services. As 
the Commissioner of Youth Justice, Jodi is committed 
to re-establishing the Victorian Youth Justice system 
as a world leader in best practice, rehabilitation and 
improving community safety outcomes.

Justin Mohamed, Deputy Secretary, Aboriginal Justice

Justin has many years’ experience working with 
Aboriginal communities, holding a number of pivotal 
roles including Commissioner for Aboriginal Children 
and Young People of Victoria, Chief Executive Officer 
for Reconciliation Australia and Chairperson of the 
National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health 
Organisation. As Deputy Secretary, Justin leads the 
Aboriginal Justice Group to implement systemic 
change in the justice system, and to connect, support 
and deliver better outcomes for the Aboriginal 
community.

Corinne Cadilhac, Deputy Secretary, Justice 
Infrastructure and Chief Executive Officer, Community 
Safety Building Authority

Corinne is an experienced senior executive with a 
Degree in civil engineering and Masters in Business 
Administration from Melbourne University. She 
has extensive experience in public administration, 
governance and infrastructure, with a particular 
focus on the development, procurement and delivery 
of major infrastructure projects across multiple 
sectors. Before joining the department, she has 
worked in numerous government departments, 
including the Department of Premier and Cabinet 
and the Department of Infrastructure. Prior to joining 
government, Corinne worked in the private sector as 
a consultant with Sinclair Knight Merz.

John Batho, Deputy Secretary, Consumer Affairs, 
Liquor, Gaming and Dispute Services

John Batho commenced as the Deputy Secretary, 
Consumer Affairs, Liquor, Gaming and Dispute Services 
in February 2021. Prior to joining the department, John 

was Acting Deputy Secretary Fairer Victoria in DPC. 
John was with DPC for 10 years, and in that time held 
positions including Executive Director, Multicultural 
Affairs and Equality and several management roles 
in Governance, Intergovernmental Relations, and 
Industrial Relations.

Marian Chapman, Deputy Secretary, Integrity, Legal 
and Law Reform and Chief Counsel

Marian Chapman is the Deputy Secretary for Integrity 
Legal and Law Reform, with a long history of working 
in the public service in both Australia and the United 
Kingdom. Before joining the department, Marian most 
recently worked in DTF where she held executive roles 
as General Counsel, Executive Director, Corporate 
Delivery Services and Executive Director, Commercial 
Transactions. Marian has a commitment to continuous 
improvement and a vision for an integrated and 
collaborative future for the department, government 
legal services and the public service.

Corri McKenzie, Deputy Secretary, Police, Fines and 
Crime Prevention

Corri has held several senior executive positions 
in social policy, service design and delivery in 
government and the community sector. Prior to 
joining the public service, Corri was the General 
Manager of Community Services, Mission Australia, 
and was previously the Corporate Communications 
Manager at Google Australia and New Zealand. She 
has led reforms including the NDIS, the National 
Plan to Reduce Violence against Women and 
their Children, and the implementation of impact 
measurement and performance reporting in 
community services.

Kate Fitzgerald, Deputy Secretary and Chief Executive, 
Emergency Management

Kate has an extensive public sector and emergency 
management career working at an executive level in 
state and federal government agencies, and holds 
Master’s and Bachelor’s degrees in emergency 
management. Kate has led reform projects in 
emergency management and policing, including 
Resilient Recovery, Fire Services Reform, the 
Emergency Services Telecommunications Authority 
(ESTA) Reform Program and emergency service 
enterprise bargaining agreements. Kate has been 
an active emergency services volunteer with the 
Australian Capital Territory Rural Fire Service, NSW 
State Emergency Service, and the Australian Red 
Cross and has performed state operational roles 
during major emergencies.

Andrew Crisp, Emergency Management Commissioner

As the former Victoria Police Deputy Commissioner, 
Regional Operations, Andrew has almost 40 years’ 
policing experience in roles focused on community 
safety across metropolitan and regional Victoria and 
overseas. This includes key emergency management 
leadership positions. During his career, Andrew has 
been involved in responses to several major incidents, 
such as the Ash Wednesday bushfires, 2009 Victorian 
bushfires, Christchurch earthquake, Queensland 
floods, and 2017 Bourke Street tragedy. 
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Janene Denton, Deputy State Controller, Industry 
Engagement and Enforcement Operation

Janene Denton started her career as a constable 
with Victoria Police in 1990. She has held several 
leadership positions within the organisation, most 
recently as a Superintendent in the Capability 
Department. She joined Industry Engagement and 
Enforcement Operation as Associate Deputy State 
Controller in October 2021. Since becoming Deputy 
State Controller in February 2022, Janene has been 
instrumental in leading the Industry Engagement and 
Enforcement Operation through its decommissioning 
phase.

Madonna Morton, Acting Deputy Secretary, Corporate 
Governance and Support

Madonna has been the acting Deputy Secretary, 
Corporate Governance and Support since late May 
2022. She previously worked as Associate Deputy 
Secretary, Justice Services in Corrections and Justice 
Services. Prior to her appointment in the department, 
Madonna held a range of senior executive positions 
in the Australian Public Service (including with the 
Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet), the 
Queensland Public Service and the United Kingdom 
civil service and has worked across social, economic 
and intergovernmental portfolios. 

Nicola Brown, Deputy Secretary, People, Safety 
and Culture

Nicola has an extensive public sector career, working 
as an executive in several Victorian Government 
departments. Prior to joining the department, Nicola 
was the Chief Human Resources Officer at DPC, 
where she led human resource functions including 
organisational design, change management, and 
diversity and inclusion. Other leadership positions 
include Director, People and Workplace Services at 
the Department of Transport, Planning and Local 
Infrastructure and Director, People and Culture 
at the Department of Planning and Community 
Development.

Gabriela Pulczynski, Executive Director, Office of 
the Secretary

Gabriela had held a range of legal and policy roles in 
Victoria and has been with the department since 2015. 
Prior to joining the department, Gabriela most recently 
worked at the courts and Victoria Legal Aid in criminal 
law practice as well as developing and implementing 
justice system reforms. Gabriela also has experience 
working on corporate sustainability in NSW and 
government oversight and integrity. During her time 
with the department, Gabriela’s work has focussed 
on criminal law, corrections and strategic justice 
system reform. 

Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is an 
independent committee established in accordance 
with the Financial Management Act 1994 and the 
Standing Directions 2018 under the Act. It provides 
assurance to the Secretary that the department’s 
risk and control environment is operating effectively 
and efficiently.

The committee operates under an approved charter 
and has the following members:

• Kate Hughes, Chair
• Claire Thomas
• Natalia Southern
• Mark Trajcevski.
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Report of Operations

Victorian Government’s Resource Management Framework
The Resource Management Framework sets out mandatory requirements for all Victorian Government 
departments in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994. This provides a structure for planning, 
budgeting, service delivery, performance management, reporting and accountability. Each departmental system 
has objectives, objective indicators and outputs that are used to report against performance.

Departmental objectives, indicators and outputs
The department’s objectives reflect the effects or impacts it seeks to have on clients, the community and 
other key stakeholders. They are measured by objective indicators, which have been selected to monitor the 
department’s progress in achieving its objectives. Environmental factors and other issues can also affect 
changes in objective indicators.

Outputs are the products and services delivered by the department to the community through its agencies and 
statutory bodies. Output performance measures help assess the department’s performance in the delivery of its 
outputs.

The medium-term departmental objectives, associated indicators and linked outputs are set out in the 2021–22 
State Budget Paper No. 3: Service Delivery and summarised in the table below.

Objective Objective indicators Outputs

Ensuring community safety 
through policing, law 
enforcement and crime 
prevention activities

• Community safety during the day and at night

• Community safety on public transport

• Crime statistics

• Road fatalities and injuries

• An effective fines system

Policing and Community 
Safety 

Community Crime Prevention

Fines and Road Safety 
Enforcement

Reduce the impact of, 
and consequences from, 
natural disasters and other 
emergencies on people, 
infrastructure, the economy 
and the environment

• Value of domestic fire insurance claims

• Rate of deaths from fire events

Emergency Management 
Capability

Effective management 
of prisoners and 
offenders and provision 
of opportunities for 
rehabilitation and 
reparation

• Escapes from corrective facilities

• Percentage of community corrections orders completed

• Rate of prisoner return to prison within two years

• Rate of offender return to corrective services within two years

Community Based Offender 
Supervision

Prisoner Supervision and 
Support

Effective supervision of 
children and young people 
through the provision of 
youth justice services 
promoting rehabilitation

• Percentage of community-based orders successfully 
completed

• Young people in youth justice participating in community 
reintegration activities

Youth Justice Community 
Based Services

Youth Justice Custodial 
Services

A fair and accessible 
justice system that 
supports confidence in 
the Victorian community

• Prosecutions completed and returning guilty outcomes 
(percentage of total case finalisations)

• Legal advice and assistance provided

• Law reform projects completed

• Medico legal death investigations

• Number of Sentencing Advisory Council publications

• Dispute resolution services provided in the Dispute 
Settlement Centre of Victoria

Public Prosecutions and Legal 
Assistance

Justice Policy, Services and 
Law Reform
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Objective Objective indicators Outputs

Victorians are protected 
with equal opportunities, 
secure identities, 
information freedoms 
and privacy rights

• Complaint files received and handled by the Victorian Equal 
Opportunity and Human Rights Commission 

• People assisted through Public Advocate advice and 
education activities

• Services provided to victims of crime against the person

• Births, deaths and marriages registration transaction 
accuracy rate

• Working with Children and NDIS Checks processed (negative 
notices issued within three days of receiving decision)

• Education and training activities delivered by the Office of the 
Victorian Information Commissioner 

Advocacy, Human Rights and 
Victim Support 

Protection of Children, 
Personal Identity and 
Screening Services

Public Sector Information 
Management, Privacy and 
Integrity

A fair marketplace for 
Victorian consumers and 
businesses with responsible 
and sustainable liquor and 
gambling sectors

• Increased access by consumers, tenants and businesses to 
digital information

• Percentage of licenced venues with a rating that is greater 
than three stars

• Responsive Gamblers Help Services

Regulation of the Victorian 
Consumer Marketplace

Gambling and Liquor 
Regulation

Changes to the department during 2021–22
Changes were made to the departmental outputs during the 2021–22 financial year as shown in the table below. 
There were no changes to the departmental objectives during the 2021–22 financial year.

2020-21 outputs Reason 2021–22 outputs

Crime Prevention, Fines 
and Enforcement

This output has been disaggregated into two outputs 
(Community Crime Prevention and Fines and Road Safety 
Enforcement) in 2021–22 to enhance transparency and 
alignment with ministerial portfolios.

As part of this disaggregation, the Restorative Engagement and 
Redress Scheme for Victoria Police has also been transferred 
into Advocacy, Human Rights and Victim Support, which better 
aligns with the activity of the outputs.

Community Crime Prevention

Fines and Road Safety 
Enforcement

Advocacy, Human Rights and 
Victim Support

Protection of Vulnerable 
People, Human Rights and 
Victim Support

This output has been renamed in 2021-22 for clarity. Advocacy, Human Rights and 
Victim Support

Protection of Children and 
Personal Identity

This output has been renamed in 2021-22 for clarity and to 
reflect the inclusion of NDIS screening services.

Protection of Children, 
Personal Identity and 
Screening Services

Identifiable direct costs attributable to machinery of government changes
In 2021–22, the government announced that liquor regulation would be separated from the gambling regulator. 
Changes to the governance for liquor regulation were enacted through the Casino and Liquor Legislation 
Amendment Act 2022, which came into effect on 1 July 2022. The Act established the Victorian Liquor Commission, 
an independent decision-making body which makes decisions about liquor licensing and other relevant matters. 
Administrative support for the Victorian Liquor Commission is provided by Liquor Control Victoria, which is a 
business unit of the department. As a result of the machinery of government changes, the department incurred 
direct costs of $344,040 in 2021–2022 which mainly related to the transfer of staff and functions from the Victorian 
Gambling and Casino Control Commission.
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Delivering on the department’s objectives

The Report of Operations reports on initiatives, projects and key achievements that contribute to departmental 
objectives and were delivered in 2021–22. This includes initiatives and projects committed to in the Department of 
Justice and Community Safety Corporate Plan 2021–25 (Corporate Plan), aligned to Statement of Direction policy, 
delivery and supporting priorities. Refer to Appendix 3 for analysis of progress towards achieving objectives, 
including detailed reporting on objective indicators and output performance measures.

Ensuring community safety through policing, law enforcement 
and crime prevention activities
This objective aims to provide a safe and secure environment for the Victorian community. This objective 
delivers on activities relating to the provision of effective policing, law enforcement and infringement processing 
services that aim to prevent, detect, investigate and prosecute crime, and promote safer road user behaviour. 
It focuses on activities which enable Victorians to undertake their lawful pursuits confidently, safely and without 
fear of crime. 

Corporate Plan 2021–25 initiatives and projects attributed to this objective
Each initiative in the Corporate Plan aligns to a policy and delivery or supporting priority in the department’s 
Statement of Direction (refer to page 8). Status and progress updates on the initiatives and projects associated 
with this objective during 2021–22 are outlined below. 

For information on the 2021–22 Victorian crime statistics, as collected by the Crime Statistics Agency (CSA), refer 
to Appendix 3, under the ‘Ensuring community safety through policing, law enforcement and prevention activities’ 
objective. The CSA is responsible for the calculation and publication of crime statistics and a further breakdown 
of crime statistics is available on the CSA website crimestatistics.vic.gov.au.

Policy and delivery priorities

Focusing on victims and survivors

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Restorative Engagement 
and Redress Scheme

In progress In 2021–22 around 300 new participants engaged with the scheme, over 
250 participants received outcomes and $7.2 million was paid in financial 
payments to eligible participants. Restorative engagement is an important 
component of the scheme and learnings and insights from this program will 
contribute to the longer-term cultural change within Victoria Police.

Since the scheme opened in December 2019, it has provided financial and  
non-financial redress support to over 850 participants, with a total of $18.4 
million in financial redress payments.

Integrating services and tailoring them for local communities

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Develop legislative 
amendments to establish 
early intervention schemes 
to counter violent extremism 
and associated reforms in 
the Terrorism (Community 
Protection) Act 2003

Complete Delivered on the passage of the Terrorism (Community Protection) Amendment 
Act 2021. Implementation planning is underway, with the legislative reforms 
scheduled to commence on 2 September 2022. These reforms include a 
voluntary case management scheme and a court-ordered support and 
engagement order scheme, the operation of which are supported by new 
legislated arrangements for both information sharing and a multiagency panel.

Prioritising Victorians in need

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Crime Prevention Strategy 
and supporting initiatives

Complete The Crime Prevention Strategy was released in June 2021 and provides the 
guiding framework for initiatives delivered in the crime prevention portfolio.

The Building Safer Communities Program has been established and two 
rounds of grants have been run, with all projects to be underway in 2022. The 
Community Safety Infrastructure Grants program is nearing completion. Other 
key initiatives and partnerships aligned with the Strategy are also continuing.
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Strengthening stakeholder partnerships

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Road Safety Strategy In progress The department is responsible for four initiatives under the Road Safety Action 
Plan 2021–23: 

• Mobile Camera Expansion Project

• Distracted Driving Project

• Roll out of Additional Fixed Road Safety Cameras 

• Mobile Camera Optimisation Plan

The Mobile Camera Expansion Project is complete, the other projects are 
in progress.

Supporting priorities

Ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Roadside Drug Testing 
Review

In progress The Roadside Drug Testing Review Project was completed on 30 June 2022 
with the exception of the Medicinal Cannabis Detectability Trial work package, 
which will be completed by 30 August 2022. 

Delivering evidence-based outcomes

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Centre of Excellence 
for Emergency Worker 
Mental Health

In progress The Centre for Excellence incorporated the Specialist Network of Clinicians in 
emergency worker mental health and commenced on 4 March 2021. The public 
facing service Responder Assist was launched on 24 May 2022, providing 
mental health services for emergency services workers in Victoria.

Private Security 
Industry Review

In progress Implementation of recommendations not requiring legislative reform is in 
progress. Items requiring legislative reform will be completed once a legislative 
vehicle is available.

Develop a mobile 
road safety camera 
optimisation plan

In progress A market review of the most relevant and notable current and future mobile 
enforcement technology was conducted to identify the opportunities they 
may provide in the short and long term. This informed the Mobile Speed 
Enforcement Optimisation Planning project which is now underway.

Trial and evaluate 
options for serving Family 
Violence Intervention 
Order applications 
and for taking digitally 
recorded statements for 
victim survivors at family 
violence incidents

In progress Sheriff’s officers were selected as the appropriate alternative service provider 
to serve eligible Family Violence Intervention Order applications. The Sheriff 
Trial commenced on 28 March 2022 and is currently well underway with an 
interim evaluation report due in the second half of 2022.

The expanded phased digitally recorded evidence-in-chief trial was approved 
by government in February 2021, with implementation progressing on schedule. 
The trial is being evaluated with an interim report due 31 October 2022.

Reforms / Demand 
Reduction Dashboard

In progress The department continually monitors corrections demand and provides 
regular updates to government on forecasts and efforts to reduce justice 
system involvement. The department reports on a suite of interventions 
designed to reduce the frequency and intensity of contact with the justice 
system and improve outcomes for individuals and the community.

Driving productivity

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Sheriff’s operating model 
transformation

In progress Improved operational processes and training have enabled sheriff’s officers 
to better support vulnerable clients to access referral pathways and to serve 
Family Violence Intervention Orders in a pilot program that commenced in 
March 2022. An enhanced Automatic Number Plate Recognition system has 
also been deployed across sheriff vehicles in Victoria, enabling more effective 
detection of vehicles registered to drivers with outstanding fines.

Implementing the 
Recommendations 
of the Fines Reform 
Advisory Board

In progress Thirteen of the Fines Reform Advisory Board’s 24 recommendations have 
been partially or fully acquitted. Five of the acquitted recommendations were 
implemented by the Justice Legislation Amendment (Fines Reform and Other 
Matters) Act 2022.
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Investing in technology and digital solutions

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Victoria’s fines information 
technology (IT) system 
reform

Complete The build of the Victorian Infringements Enforcement Warrant (VIEW) IT 
system was completed in 2021, with business-as-usual management of the 
contract with the VIEW vendor now in place. Work has continued on the 
Nextgen program to progressively add to and deliver a long-term technology 
solution. Progress to date on the Nextgen program includes developing 
functionality to support driver and vehicle sanctions under fines legislation 
and awarding contracts to vendors for capital works following a tender 
process.

Intelligence led debt 
engagement strategy

Complete An intelligence led debt engagement strategy was endorsed and implemented 
in September 2021. The strategy has realised benefits including increased early 
intervention and engagement by fine recipients, improvement in finalisation of 
aged fines and higher total amounts collected.

Road safety camera 
program

In progress The department is drafting an Asset Management Strategy and has 
progressed with activities to drive asset renewal including upgrading the 
ageing assets on all Hume Freeway sites with current technology that is 
supported and fit for purpose.

Work on the Distracted Driver Camera Project continues, with the contract 
for camera-detection and verification services executed with Jenoptik 
Australia Pty Ltd in May 2022. The implementation phase is underway for the 
development of the camera and verification solutions, with cameras on track 
to be rolled out by 2023.

Install 35 new fixed 
intersection and 2 highway 
road safety camera 
systems

In progress Contracts have been signed with two vendors for the design, supply, 
installation and commissioning of the new 35 intersection location road safety 
camera systems. Site delivery will be phased and all sites are on track to be 
enforcing by mid-2024.

Key achievements in 2021–22
The key achievements associated with this objective 
for 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Crime Prevention Strategy 
The Crime Prevention Strategy provides a framework 
for government to partner with communities and 
tackle underlying causes of crime. The Building Safer 
Communities Program is a key initiative and is funding 
nine Empowering Communities Partnerships and 
34 Crime Prevention Innovation Fund and Creating 
Safer Places projects, with a new Youth Engagement 
Grants stream underway and expected to fund over 30 
projects in 2022. Fifteen Youth Crime Prevention Grants 
are also continuing across the state with a published 
evaluation showing significant reductions in offending 
for participants (with over 1500 young people receiving 
support since 2016-17), as well as initiatives to support 
multicultural communities such as the Ubuntu 
Empowering Mothers project which has supported 
over 100 families to date, and School Holiday Programs 
which supported over 800 young people in 2020–21. 
The Community Safety Infrastructure Grants program 
(comprising 31 projects) is nearing completion with all 
projects either complete or to be completed in 2022–23. 
Partnerships with Crime Stoppers and Neighbourhood 
Watch also continue to deliver on the Crime Prevention 
Strategy’s aims.

Implementation of the recommendations 
of the Fines Reform Advisory Board
The department continues to make progress on 
implementing the 24 recommendations of the Fines 
Reform Advisory Board to further improve the fines 
system. Thirteen recommendations have been fully 

or partially acquitted (recommendations 1, 2, 3.1, 5, 
7, 10, 12, 13, 18, 20, 22, 23 and 24). Five of the acquitted 
recommendations (recommendations 1, 5, 12, 18 and 
20) were implemented by the Justice Legislation 
Amendment (Fines Reform and Other Matters) 
Act 2022. These changes deliver better support for 
vulnerable fine recipients, improve departmental 
processes relating to fines service delivery and create 
a more efficient and effective fines system.

Terrorism (Community Protection) 
Amendments Act 2021
The Act acquits recommendations 4, 5, 6 and 15 
made by the Expert Panel on Terrorism and Violent 
Extremism Prevention and Response Powers by 
creating two early intervention pathways to counter 
violent extremism – a voluntary case management 
scheme and a civil Support and Engagement Order – 
establishing a multi-agency panel to coordinate the 
therapeutic based intervention and an information 
sharing scheme. The Government is progressing the 
implementation of the Act, including operationalising 
the intervention scheme ahead of commencement on 
2 September 2022.

Road Safety Strategy 2021–30 and 
Action Plan 2021–23
One of the key focus areas of the Victorian Road 
Safety Strategy 2021–30 was to tackle distracted 
driving. Funding was allocated for the department 
to implement AI-enabled road safety cameras that 
will detect illegal mobile phone use and seatbelt 
offences by early 2023. Contract for camera-
detection and verification services was executed 
with Jenoptik Australia Pty Ltd on 23 May 2022, and 
the Implementation Phase is now underway for the 
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development of the camera and verification solutions. 
The Road Safety Action Plan 202123 provides for the 
installation of new fixed road safety cameras at 35 
intersection locations and two highway point-to-point 
systems. Site delivery for the fixed road safety cameras 
will be phased, with all sites expected to be enforcing 
by mid-2024. The department has developed a Point-
to-Point Strategy for the selection and procurement 
of new highway point-to-point sites as funded in the 
Action Plan.

Delivery of the Victorian Government’s 
response to the Legal and Social Issues 
Committee’s ‘Inquiry into Responses to 
Historical Forced Adoptions in Victoria’
Through forced adoption practices that 
predominantly took place between the 1950s and 
1970s, also identified by some as forced family 
separation, a child’s natural parent (or parents) 
was compelled to give up their baby for adoption 
without their willing or informed consent.

The Inquiry made 56 recommendations to heal 
the harm caused by historical forced adoption 
practices, tabling the report in September 2021. 
An interdepartmental committee and stakeholder 
consultation were held for steering and guidance, 
with work leading to the announcement of the 
Victorian Government’s response on 10 March 2022. 
The Justice Legislation Amendment Act 2022 received 
Royal Assent on 31 May 2022. This Act included 
legislative amendments to change information 
sharing and allow new birth certificates containing 
both pre- and post-adoptive parents.

Work to implement the recommendations is ongoing, 
with a variety of areas in scope for change, relating to 
redress, centralisation of functions, management of 
records, data publication, and community support. An 
Exceptional Circumstances fund opened in early July.

COVID-19 Quarantine Victoria (CQV)
CQV was established on 1 December 2020 to 
administer the Victorian Government’s COVID-19 
Accommodation Program. It was set up as an 
Administrative Office connected to the Department of 
Justice and Community Safety. 

CQV is led by the Commissioner and State Controller 
– COVID-19 Accommodation who is appointed by the 
Premier and reports directly to the Minister for Police. 
CQV supports the Minister in the delivery of relevant 
functions under the Public Health and Wellbeing 
Act 2008.

In 2021–22, CQV has had operational independence 
and responsibility for the: 

• International Arrivals Quarantine Program, which 
concluded on 22 April 2022

• Compliance and Enforcement Program conducted 
at the international air and sea ports and in the 
community to 22 April 2022

• Emergency Accommodation program for people 
that are required to quarantine or isolate but 
cannot do so safely in their own accommodation

Following changes to Pandemic Orders issued by the 
Minister for Health on 22 April 2022, CQV is not required 
to provide quarantine to international arrivals. CQV 
does not detain any individual, with accommodation 
provided by the Program on a voluntary basis and 
is limited to provision of facilities for persons unable 
to safely isolate in accordance with the current 
Quarantine Isolation and Testing Order. 

Key achievements/deliverables
From 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022, CQV has:

• accommodated 27,228 international arrivals in 
mandatory quarantine accommodation 

• accommodated 6,572 community members in 
emergency accommodation.

• from August to November 2021, provided 
accommodation and humanitarian support to 1083 
arrivals from Afghanistan. 447 (40 per cent) of these 
arrivals were children.   

• administered the Quarantine Fee Contribution 
scheme under the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 
2008, for which: 
 » 10,928 invoices have been issued and 

$29.6 million fees collected 
 » maintained a 75.72 per cent cash clearance 

rate and 86.83 per cent clearance rate 
considering payments, waivers and payment 
plans. 

• established a new operating model at the 
Victorian Quarantine Hub facility, reflecting the 
same principles and strong infection prevention 
and control measures underpinning the Hotel 
Quarantine model, with modifications based on 
facility design, available technology and the intent 
to maximise a positive resident experience

• concluded the Hotel Quarantine program in 
March 2022.

Since February 2021, there have been no transmission 
events originating from the CQV-managed quarantine 
program due to a continued focus on infection 
prevention and control measures, including in-built 
design features at the Victorian Quarantine Hub. 
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Reduce the impact of, and consequences from, natural disasters 
and other emergencies on people, infrastructure, the economy 
and the environment
This objective aims to deliver a coordinated, all communities, all emergencies approach to emergency 
management, focusing on risk mitigation and active partnership with the Victorian community. Emergency 
management encompasses prevention, preparation and planning for, responding to and recovering from natural 
disasters (such as bushfires, floods and severe storms), the consequences of terrorism, hazardous material 
incidents (such as chemical spills and gas leaks), and individual and personal emergencies (such as land and sea 
rescues, car accidents and residential and commercial fires).

Corporate Plan 2021–25 initiatives and projects aligned to this objective
Each initiative in the Corporate Plan aligns to a policy and delivery or supporting priority in the department’s 
Statement of Direction (refer to page 8). Status and progress updates on the initiatives and projects associated 
with this objective during 2021–22 are outlined below.

Policy and delivery priorities

Delivering evidence-based outcomes

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Emergency Management 
Governance Review

In progress EMV is continuing to work with the emergency management sector to review 
Victoria’s statutory emergency management governance arrangements. 
The review aims to ensure that Victoria’s arrangements are clear and enable 
public sector agencies to work together effectively in response to major 
emergencies.

Integrating services and tailoring them for local communities

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Resilient Recovery Strategy 
Implementation Plan and 
Operational Guidelines

In progress Implementation of Resilient Recovery Strategy intent and priorities is being 
driven through implementation of the Inspector-General for Emergency 
Management’s Inquiry into the 201920 Victorian Fire Season Phase 2 findings 
and recommendations. The primary mechanism for this will be via the creation 
of Emergency Recovery Victoria, announced by Government on 18 May 2022 
which will be established in October 2022.

Water Safety Strategy In progress The Victorian Water Safety Strategy 2021–25 was released in December 2021 
and work is progressing to achieve the Strategy’s priorities, overseen by the 
Water Safety Taskforces. 

Enhance community-
focused communication 
and engagement

In progress The successful implementation of the Australian Warning System in Victoria 
in December 2021 sees significant improvements for Victorian communities. 
Work commenced on implementation of the new Australian Fire Danger Rating 
System, with the community education piece due for launched in July 2022. 
Both national initiatives will see significant improvements for Victorian’s and 
visitors, assisting them to better prepare for, and respond to emergencies.

Drive Emergency 
Management planning 
and operational reform

In progress EMV has continued to review the operating model for emergency 
management and released a Consultation Report in December 2021 outlining 
proposals for building the emergency management workforce over the 
next five to ten years, including unlocking the potential of public service, 
volunteer and private sector workforces. The feedback received from over 30 
stakeholder organisations from across the emergency management sector is 
being considered and will be used to inform future direction.

Investing in technology and digital solutions

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Emergency Management 
Sector-wide information 
and communications 
technology (ICT) 
Action Plan

In progress EMV has commenced planning the development of an emergency sector-wide 
ICT action plan which will assist in defining opportunities to improve existing 
emergency management technologies and identify investment opportunities to 
meet government and emergency sector-wide requirements.    
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Focusing on victims and survivors

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Fiskville Redress 
Scheme Design

In progress The 2021–22 Budget allocated $1.6 million over one year for the development 
of a redress scheme for Fiskville Affected People in response to 
recommendations of the Inquiry into the Fiskville Training College Final Report.

Work has progressed on the scheme design and implementation plan, and 
consultation with stakeholders undertaken to ensure the scheme provides full 
redress, acknowledges past harm and offers both non-financial and financial 
support when it is implemented.

Strengthening stakeholder partnerships

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Implement Fire 
Services Reform

In progress The Year Two to Five Fire Services Reform Implementation Plan was published 
on 18 November 2021 outlining 41 actions over four years embedding the 
government’s landmark fire services reforms and long-term vision for 
modernising Victoria’s fire service agencies.

Implement Emergency 
Management Planning 
Reform

In progress EMV, in partnership with the emergency management sector, has successfully 
led the implementation of the new planning framework at state, regional and 
municipal levels. EMV’s work included completing the first review of the State 
Emergency Management Plan, and ongoing support to state and regional 
planning through governance, initiatives and projects.

Strategic roadmap for 
long-term reform of the 
emergency management 
sector and the Sector 
Outcomes Framework

In progress EMV has been working with sector partners to progress the Sector Outcomes 
Framework. This articulates a shared vision of success and will support the 
sector to measure the effectiveness of activity. 

Development of the Strategic Roadmap and Strategic Action Plan continued, 
which describe how emergency management departments and organisations 
will deliver on the sectors’ collective vision of success.

National Partnership 
Agreement on Disaster 
Risk Reduction

In progress Substantial progress is being made on both phases of the implementation 
plan, which comprises the:

Risk and Resilience Grants Program, with the first round of funding allocated a 
total of $3.2 million to 30 approved projects. 

State and Regional Priority Projects, with the first round funding allocated a 
total of $1.8 million to five projects.

Response to Inspector-
General for Emergency 
Management Reviews 
and Inquiries

In progress Substantial progress has been made in implementing reviews and inquiries 
by the Inspector-General for Emergency Management and the Royal 
Commission into National Natural Disaster Arrangements. This includes 
critical improvements to community messaging, governance, cross-border 
engagement, and workforce sustainability.

Key achievements in 2021–22
The key achievements associated with this objective 
for 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Victorian Water Safety Strategy 2021–25
In response to a record number of drowning incidents 
in 2020–21, EMV led the development of the Victorian 
Water Safety Strategy 2021–25 in partnership 
with the Water Safety Taskforce. The Taskforce 
comprises representatives from water safety sector 
agencies and departments and was chaired by the 
Parliamentary Secretary for Emergency Services 
the Hon Paul Edbrooke MP and deputy chaired 
by the Emergency Management Commissioner, 
Andrew Crisp. 

The objective of the Strategy is to encourage 
Victorians to safely participate in activities in and 
around water, while seeking to reduce the number of 
drownings and associated incidents to zero. After a 
comprehensive stakeholder consultation process, the 

document was released in December 2021.  A Water 
Safety Action Plan Implementation Working Group has 
now been convened, and an implementation plan is on 
track for delivery in September 2022.

Improved information on emergencies 
for Victorian communities
The Supplementary Alerting Service application was 
developed and released for dispatch of Country Fire 
Authority (CFA), Victoria State Emergency Service 
(VICSES) and Ambulance Victoria volunteers and 
staff to events. The application was designed in 
consultation with the end users. Since its release in 
2021 there are approximately 22,000 users registered 
on the platform.

The Australian Warning System (AWS) is a national 
approach that provides information and warnings 
for hazards such as bushfire, flood, storm, cyclone, 
extreme heat, and severe weather. The AWS 
Framework assists communities by providing 
consistent warning messages (including text, icons 
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and colours) and clear information about emergency 
events across all Australian states.

The first release of AWS Messaging (for bushfire, 
flood, storm, cyclone and heat) went live 22 December 
2021 and AWS Messaging for all other hazards was 
completed by June 2022.

State Control Centre (SCC) operations
EMVs introduction of a core dedicated workforce to 
the SCC in 2021 has been instrumental in providing 
a 24/7 emergency management service to support 
the functions of the Emergency Management 
Commissioner, the emergency management sector 
and the Victorian community. The dedicated workforce 
has made positive and effective contributions to 
the management of emergencies including the 
September 2021 earthquake, the October 2021 
flood event and numerous flood and storm events 
throughout January 2022 and April 2022. 

For Class 1 emergencies, the SCC was activated for 
74 days at Tier 1 and 28 days at Tier 2. Throughout 
2021–22 the SCC activation level for Class 2 
emergencies was maintained at Tier 1 to support 
COVID related response. The workforce has also 
allowed the SCC to maintain a constant state of 
monitoring and readiness including supporting the 
management of interstate deployment and issuing 
of public information on behalf of Agencies. It has 
delivered significant value in reliability, consistency 
and quality of service delivery. This new base 
workforce, that integrates with the agency surge 
workforce has also helped address many of the 
capability and capacity gaps at the state level.

Emergency Management Reform 
Program
EMV continued to work with sector partners to 
develop the Emergency Management Sector 
Outcomes Framework, a six-year Emergency 
Management Strategic Roadmap and Strategic 
Action Plan (2022–2025), which describe how 
emergency management departments and 
organisations will deliver on the sectors’ collective 
vision of success. The Victorian Government 
committed to developing a Sector Outcomes 
Framework to measure the effectiveness of activity 
across the emergency management sector. EMV 
has been working with the sector to progress the 
Framework, with input sought on two discussion 
papers in late 2021. EMV progressed the review of the 
Emergency Management Operating Model, releasing 
a Consultation Report in December 2021 outlining 
proposals for building the emergency management 
workforce over the next five to ten years. 

EMV also continued to work with the sector to 
review Victoria’s statutory emergency management 
governance arrangements. The review aims to 
ensure that Victoria’s arrangements are clear and 
enable public sector agencies to work together 
effectively in response to major emergencies. Another 
notable achievement was the release of the Year 
Two to Five Fire Services Reform Implementation 
Plan, which was published on 18 November 2021 
outlining 41 actions over four years, embedding 
the government’s landmark fire services reforms 

and long-term vision for modernising Victoria’s fire 
service agencies. EMV also undertook a financial 
sustainability review of justice portfolio emergency 
service organisations and supported the delivery of 
the ESTA Capability and Service Review.

Learning Review into the Victorian June 
2021 Extreme Weather Event
In August 2021, EMV in collaboration with VICSES, 
commenced a Coordinated Learning Review to 
establish a coordinated and consistent approach 
for reviewing the June 2021 Extreme Weather Event 
to ensure that lessons of state-wide multi-agency 
significance and aspects of particular interest to 
impacted communities (including both areas of 
good practice and improvement opportunities) 
were identified, implemented and shared across 
the emergency management sector and with 
impacted communities.

A community report was developed based on 
extensive collaboration between agencies, 
departments, local governments and members of the 
community to capture and share the learnings from 
the event. This report was released on 29 June 2022. 
The lessons identified in the community report are 
designed to support community level learning as well 
as provide a feedback loop regarding information 
collected, analysed and the next steps.

Bushfire Recovery Victoria
Bushfire Recovery Victoria coordinates real, effective 
and timely support that communities need to recover 
after a major emergency.

The dedicated agency was established during 
the devastating 2019–20 summer bushfire season 
to support the recovery of communities in East 
Gippsland and the state’s Northeast. It was also 
delegated responsibility for coordinating recovery 
following the significant flood and storm event of 
June 2021.

By working closely with its partners in local councils, 
government agencies, not-for-profits and the private 
sector – and providing strategic leadership on whole 
of government recovery activities and investments 
– Bushfire Recovery Victoria has continued to 
support disaster-affected people, businesses and 
communities across the state in their long-term 
recovery journey.

In 2021–22, Bushfire Recovery Victoria has 
coordinated a range of support programs and 
initiatives, including:

• undertaking the locally delivered clean-up of 
storm-damaged buildings and debris on over 1,000 
private properties, which included ecology and 
Aboriginal cultural heritage overlays to minimise 
the footprint of works

• administering a range of Victorian and jointly 
funded grants to address recovery needs in fire 
and storm affected areas, including support for 
new and upgraded community facilities, and 
improved tourist assets to enhance the local 
economy

• supporting the capacity of fire and storm affected 
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shire councils and a large network of community 
recovery committees with practical measures to 
help navigate the recovery process

• continuing the successful and innovative Short-
Term Modular Housing program, which has helped 
people stay on their land and in their communities 
as they rebuild

• delivering the recovery support program in 
partnership with Victorian government agencies 
and local services – which has linked over 2,000 
individuals and families with individualised support 
following the storm and flood

Recognising the unique impact of disasters on 
Country, Bushfire Recovery Victoria maintained its 
focus on Aboriginal Culture and Healing throughout 
its work. It is a standalone pillar of recovery – equal to 
social and economic recovery and the recovery of built 
and natural environments.

Following a key recommendation of the Inspector-
General for Emergency Management in 2021 to 
establish a dedicated and permanent recovery 
body to support communities after all types of 
emergencies, Bushfire Recovery Victoria is expanding 
its responsibilities and transitioning to become 
Emergency Recovery Victoria in 2022, within the 
department of Justice and Community Safety.
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Effective management of prisoners and offenders and 
provision of opportunities for rehabilitation and reparation
This objective relates to the management of the State’s adult correctional system. The overarching purpose of 
the correctional system is to promote community safety through community-based and custodial supervision of 
prisoners and offenders through effective management and services to provide opportunities for rehabilitation 
and reparation.

Corporate Plan 2021–25 initiatives and projects aligned to this objective
Each initiative in the Corporate Plan aligns to a policy and delivery or supporting priority in the department’s 
Statement of Direction (refer to page 8). Status and progress updates on the initiatives and projects associated 
with this objective during 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Policy and delivery priorities

Driving productivity

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Prison Network 
Configuration project

In progress Work on the Prison Network Configuration project commenced in early 2021. In 
2021–22 progress included developing principles for prisoner classification and 
placement, network configuration and vacancy management, and planning 
for and advising Government on future prison network configuration options 
once new infrastructure is operationalised.

Integrating services and tailoring them for local communities

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Chisholm Road Prison 
Project

In progress Construction is on track for completion within 2022.

Place-based approach to 
corrections

In progress Work is continuing as part of Better Connected Care Service System Reform 
2022–2027 across 17 Department of Families, Fairness and Housing (DFFH) 
areas. Local Site Executive Committees have been stood up, with membership 
comprising government departments and sector partners. Committees are 
working on developing localised shared priorities and opportunities for cross 
portfolio collaboration and service system support. 

Prioritising Victorians in need

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Dame Phyllis Frost Centre In progress Construction is on track for completion within 2022.

Regional Aboriginal Justice 
Advisory Committees 
regional plans

In progress Regional plans are in place across nine Justice Service regions and 
supported by Aboriginal Chairpersons and Aboriginal Community 
Controlled Organisations. There is a focus within the plans on Aboriginal  
self-determination.

Community Correctional 
Services (CCS) reforms

In progress Work is progressing to strengthen oversight and management of offenders 
with a focus on high-risk offenders and alignment of services to enable the 
department’s place-based agenda.

Link priority cohorts 
to government service 
provisions

In progress Work is progressing in the form of Multi-Agency panels across metropolitan 
regions, and Youth at Risk collaboration across rural areas. Attendance 
at Monthly Regional Aboriginal Justice Advisory Committees forums 
and commitment to self-determination principles are ongoing. Linkages 
with local services developed and maintained on an as needs basis for 
Disability Services. 

Pre- and post-release 
support, rehabilitation 
programs and 
reintegration strategies/
pathways

In progress The approval process is underway to engage new contracted suppliers for 
pre and post release services, which will commence in late 2022. Further work 
to strengthen approaches to pre and post release services is also underway 
regarding allocation of funding for transitional services received in the 
2022–23 State Budget.
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Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Health Services Review In progress A Request for Tender was released in January 2022 for delivery of primary 
health care services. The future service agreement will integrate Alcohol 
and Drug Health Services and hepatitis assessment and treatment services 
into primary healthcare delivery to ensure an integrated and efficient model 
of care. The future contract has a service linked performance framework 
that provides incentives for the provider to actively monitor, manage and 
improve performance, which will be overseen by Justice Health as part of a 
comprehensive contract management framework.

Strengthening Aboriginal 
Healthcare

In progress The Strengthening Aboriginal Healthcare Project will support Aboriginal 
people in prison receiving culturally specific health care. This project is a 
commitment to develop a comprehensive, long-term plan of action targeted 
to the specific needs of Aboriginal people in custody. Actions include an 
Aboriginal health risk review, an Aboriginal health clinical governance audit 
and health workshops with Aboriginal people.

Strengthening stakeholder partnerships

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Strengthening employment 
pathways with the private 
sector for people leaving 
prison.

In progress There are a range of employment initiatives in operation across the 
corrections system, which historically leverage off employment support 
programs and vocational training courses. Most recently, CV have created 
new employment pathways by creating employment focused partnerships 
with commercial customers. Over the next two years, these partnerships are 
expected to deliver between 124 and 255 jobs for people leaving prison in 
warehousing, food processing and general maintenance, with potential for 
both partnerships to grow in number and employment type in coming years. 

Supporting priorities

Ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Culturally safe 
interventions for young 
Aboriginal people and 
the Aboriginal Social and 
Emotional Wellbeing Plan

In progress Justice Health is exploring initiatives to enhance access, participation and the 
overall effectiveness of culturally safe services with a view to improving mental 
health and wellbeing outcomes for Aboriginal youth while in custody and 
transitioning to community. This work is informed by Wirkara Kulpa, released 
in February 2022 and several prior reviews, including reviews completed by the 
Commission for Children and Young People.

Undertake a cultural review 
of the adult custodial 
corrections system

In progress The Cultural Review into the Adult Custodial Corrections System commenced 
in 2021 and a final report is due to be submitted to the Minister for Corrections 
in December 2022. In 2021–22, the Review completed its engagement and 
research program where it visited every correctional site in Victoria, engaged 
with over 1600 people who shared their experience of the custodial system, 
and consulted with system stakeholders.

Vaccination rollout in 
custodial settings

Complete Dedicated vaccination clinics were established across all sites to support 
vaccination of staff, prisoners and youth justice clients. Ongoing vaccination 
of prisoners and youth justice has been incorporated into existing onsite 
health service delivery. 

Investing in technology and digital solutions

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Corrections IT and data 
system strategy

In progress A new agile approach is being implemented, with the delivery of works to 
be phased into smaller deliverables whilst maintaining alignment with the 
department’s overarching IT strategy.
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Key achievements in 2021–22
The key achievements associated with this objective 
for 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Establishment of the Cultural Review of 
the adult custodial corrections system
In 2021, the department established the Cultural 
Review into the Adult Custodial Corrections System 
to strengthen the culture, safety, wellbeing, and 
integrity of the adult custodial corrections system, 
and improve responses to the complex needs of 
vulnerable people in custody. The Review provides 
an important opportunity to reform the prison 
environment and improve the workplace culture 
for staff and the delivery of services to people in 
custody to ensure that it is consistent with the 
rehabilitative goals of the custodial system. The 
Review is anticipated to provide advice on how to 
strengthen support for Aboriginal people in custody 
through improved access to culturally appropriate 
health and wellbeing services, and to consider 
system oversight and ways to ensure that cultural 
safety in the custodial system is a responsibility for 
all staff. The Review will provide its final report in 
December 2022.

Implementing family engagement 
programs and Housing Program
Along with the foundation of a safe and humane 
prison system, rehabilitation and reintegration 
programs are critical to enhancing community safety 
and reducing reoffending. Rehabilitation services 
in the prison system include family engagement 
programs at both women’s prisons, which include 
the Family Engagement Service; Living with Mum; 
Maternal Child Health Nurse Program; and Victorian 
Association for the Care and Resettlement of 
Offender’s Parent and Family Program and Family 
Visits Program. 

The department has also implemented Family 
Engagement Workers in both women’s prisons to 
assist women to heal fractured and problematic 
relationships and work on strategies to assist in their 
transition to the family unit and broader community. 

As part of a focus on improving outcomes for women 
through support services and programs, a housing 
program provides housing and case management 
support to women on remand and serving sentences 
of three months or less.

CV’s Forensic Intervention Service
CV’s Forensic Intervention Service is providing 
proactive psychological wellbeing services through 
the Protective Quarantine Service.

The requirement to quarantine is a difficult transition 
to imprisonment and may cause stress for prisoners. 
The Protective Quarantine Service was set up in 
recognition of this. The Protective Quarantine Service 
team provide supportive counselling sessions which 
are focused on transition and managing distress and 
wellbeing. Enhanced supports and safeguards for 
mental health and wellbeing have been implemented 
to mitigate the impact of protective quarantine on 

prisoners. This includes increased mental health 
services, access to phone calls and video visits with 
families, activity packs, TVs and time out of cells.

In addition to the Protective Quarantine Service, 
there is greater oversight by custodial staff, including 
higher levels of overnight staffing. This means 
that there is increased oversight, monitoring and 
engagement with prisoners during this period. While 
protective quarantine is vital to protect the health of 
prisoners and staff during the COVID-19 pandemic, 
this increase shows the importance of the work that 
CV has undertaken in enhancing the supports offered 
to prisoners while they are subject to this regime.

Strengthened oversight of high-risk 
offenders on Community Correction 
Orders
CCS plays a vital role in ensuring the safety of the 
community by rehabilitating offenders and diverting 
low-risk offenders from prison to help break the cycle 
of reoffending.

The department continues to strengthen and expand 
CCS to ensure it continues to provide strengthened 
oversight, treatment and support to people sentenced 
to a Community Correction Order.

Additional case management staff have been 
provided, enabling Community Corrections to provide 
more intensive case management to high-risk 
offenders and access to more targeted rehabilitation 
and support services to help reduce reoffending 
and keep the community safe. More intensive case 
management means more proactive monitoring of the 
highest-risk and most serious offenders, to minimise 
their risk of reoffending.

Specialist Trauma Counselling services
The department is implementing reforms that 
recognise that women in prison often have 
complex and varied mental health issues and have 
experienced high rates of victimisation and trauma. 
Strengthened support for women in the prison system 
is crucial to reduce women’s reoffending by ensuring 
that policies, programs and services are gender-
responsive and trauma-informed. WestCASA (Centre 
Against Sexual Assault) and CASA Central Victoria 
deliver individual trauma counselling to women and 
gender diverse people at Dame Phyllis Frost Centre 
and Tarrengower Prison respectively. Both services 
also offer small group-based programs to support 
trauma recovery and training and debriefing to staff 
within the prisons. Services have predominantly been 
delivered remotely throughout most of 2021–22 via 
phone call or zoom.

Prison Disability Support Initiative 
including pre and post release case 
management 
The Prisoner Disability Support Initiative supports 
increased access to clinical assessments for prisoners 
with disability, who are over-represented in the 
corrections system. The Initiative aims to improve 
the identification and management of prisoners with 
disability and complex needs, focusing on prisoners 
with cognitive impairment and psycho-social disability. 
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It is a state-wide multidisciplinary Allied Health service 
that delivered across all prisons and offers a range of 
targeted specialist disability services for both remand 
and sentenced prisoners.

Funding provided in the 2022–23 State Budgets 
ensures continuation of the lapsing program from 
1 July 2022.

Maribyrnong Residential Facility
The Maribyrnong Community Residential Facility 
opened in June 2020 and continued operations 
throughout 2021–22 as a part of the department’s 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The facility 
assists men engaged in the criminal justice system 
who would otherwise be homeless by providing 
somewhere to live where they can focus on other 
transitional needs under the guidance of an 
operating partnership led by CV and including 
Jesuit Social Services and G4S. The facility can 
accommodate up to 44 men, including those who 
have been released at the completion of their 
custodial sentence, are on parole or are on a 
Community Correction Order.

The facility provides people with housing stability, 
enabling residents to make pro-social decisions 
to assist in their integration into the community. 
During 2021–22, 62 men have been accommodated 
at the facility. Residents have been supported to 
successfully complete vocational training to assist 
in seeking employment, gain employment, identify 
and access further accommodation opportunities 
in private rental accommodation or public housing. 
Residents have also been able to address other 
transitional needs such as organising identification 
and obtaining their driver’s licence. Men have 
also improved relationships with family members, 
completed family violence programs and worked with 
Child Protection to facilitate a return to the family 
home. A Community Advisory Group meets bimonthly 
to keep community members and stakeholders 
informed on the operation of the facility as well 
as provide an opportunity to have their questions 
answered. Funding was received in the 2022–23 State 
Budget to operate the facility for a further two years 
through to July 2024.
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Effective supervision of children and young people through the 
provision of youth justice services promoting rehabilitation
This objective aims to promote opportunities for rehabilitation of children and young people in the youth justice 
system and contribute to the reduction of crime in the community by providing a range of services including 
diversion services, advice to courts, offence-related programs, and community-based and custodial supervision.

Corporate Plan 2021–25 initiatives and projects attributed to this objective
Each initiative in the Corporate Plan aligns to a policy and delivery or supporting priority in the department’s 
Statement of Direction (refer to page 8). Status and progress updates on the initiatives and projects associated 
with this objective during 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Delivering evidence-based outcomes

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Youth Justice Reform 
Act Review

Complete The Review’s report and a Victorian Government response were tabled in 
Parliament in May 2022.

Integrating services and tailoring them for local communities

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Cherry Creek youth 
justice facility

In progress Construction is on track for completion within 2022.

Youth Justice Strategic 
Plan 2020–30 
Implementation

In progress As at April 2022, 73 per cent of Armytage and Ogloff Review recommendations 
have been completed.

Prioritising Victorians in need

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Youth Justice Outcomes 
Framework

In progress To date, domains, outcomes and indicators have been completed and 
endorsed. Youth Justice is in the process of reviewing and validating data to 
inform performance measurement.  

NDIS for people in youth 
justice and corrections

In progress Specialist Disability Advisors employed by Youth Justice, one of which 
specifically works to support Aboriginal children and young people, work 
with Youth Justice case managers and custodial staff to support children 
and young people and their carers to maximise opportunities for support via 
the NDIS, including support to make NDIS access requests and decisions in 
relation to existing NDIS participant’s plans.

Youth Justice housing and 
support initiatives

In progress As at end of May 2022, 20 studios have been delivered with 10 more underway.

Strengthening stakeholder partnerships

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Aboriginal Youth Justice 
Strategy

In progress Wirkara Kulpa, the Aboriginal Youth Justice Strategy, was released in February 
2022. Work is underway to implement these initiatives.

Supporting priorities

Ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Youth Justice Workforce 
Plan implementation

In progress Roll out of a new vocational qualification, a Certificate IV in Youth Justice for 
custodial staff commenced delivery in 2022. A new Operational Safety Training 
package provides staff with a suite of response capabilities to manage 
incidents involving young people more effectively and safely.
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Key achievements in 2021–22
The key achievements associated with this objective 
for 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Launch of Wirkara Kulpa, the Aboriginal 
Youth Justice Strategy
On 17 February 2022, Victoria’s first Aboriginal Youth 
Justice Strategy was launched. 

Aboriginal self-determination is the foundational 
principle that has shaped the development of the 
Strategy. It has been led by the Aboriginal Justice 
Caucus, under the umbrella of the Aboriginal Justice 
Agreement, and is a key initiative of Burra Lotjpa 
Dunguludja (AJA4), and the Youth Justice Strategic 
Plan 2020–2030. 

Wirkara Kulpa has also been developed in parallel 
with the Commission for Children and Young 
People’s Our Youth Our Way inquiry and builds on 
the evidence and data collected through the Koori 
Youth Justice Taskforce. It addressed 56 of the total 
75 recommendations in the combined Taskforce and 
Inquiry report.

Diversion Statement
On 1 April 2022, the Youth Diversion Statement was 
released. The statement is a guiding document that 
reaffirms the Government’s commitment to crime 
prevention and diversion and outlines the plan to 
continue this commitment over the next four years. 
Youth Justice’s commitment to diversion and early 
intervention gives young people opportunities to get 
support, make better choices, and contribute to the 
community in a positive way.

The diversionary approach embedded within Youth 
Justice means that most young people who have 
contact with the justice system do not end up under 
supervision in the community or in custody, and the 
number that do is decreasing. On an average day in 
2020–21, in Victoria, there were 450 young people aged 
10 to 17 years under Youth Justice supervision. 

Of the Australian states and territories in 2020–21, on 
an average day, Victoria had the lowest rate of:

• All young people under supervision, at 7.3 per 10,000 
young people aged 10 to 17, which has decreased by 
34 per cent over the last five years.

• Young people under community supervision, at 5.7 
per 10,000 young people aged 10 to 17 which has 
decreased by 38 per cent over the last five years.

Review of the Children and Justice 
Legislation Amendment (Youth Justice 
Reform) Act 2017
The Review’s report was tabled in Parliament in May 
2022 and provides insights into the significant reforms 
to the Youth Justice system that have taken place 
since the reforms under review commenced.

This review acquits a legislative requirement in the 
Children, Youth and Families Act 2005 for the Minister 
for Youth Justice and the Attorney-General to review 
key reforms introduced in 2017. 

Overall, the review is supportive of progress made 
since the Youth Justice Reform Act was introduced 
but makes 20 recommendations which identify 
opportunities for further improvement. 

These recommendations sit across the court system, 
Youth Justice and Victoria Police, as well as other 
partner agencies.

The Government tabled a response to the 
report in Parliament to accompany the review 
report. The Government response noted that the 
Government will carefully consider the report 
and undertake further work before adopting a 
position on the recommendations. Where the review 
recommendations relate to legislative change, these 
will be considered as part of work to develop a new 
legislative framework for Youth Justice in Victoria.

Cherry Creek progress
Significant progress has been made on the new Cherry 
Creek Youth Justice facility, with construction almost 
complete. Recruitment is also underway for a number 
of roles that will drive the operational commissioning 
of Cherry Creek.

The new Youth Justice Facility at Cherry Creek has 
been designed to effectively rehabilitate young people, 
and in doing so, provide the best working environment 
we can for staff.

Work on the new facility is well underway and is 
on track to be completed in 2022, with the facility 
expected to accommodate young people in the first 
half of 2023.

Youth Justice COVID-19 response 
Youth Justice custodial operations continue to take 
account of health advice to manage the risks posed by 
COVID-19. Youth Justice is continuing to meet young 
people’s developmental needs and support their 
rehabilitation, including when they are in isolation or 
quarantine.

Young people’s health, mental health and wellbeing 
continues to be prioritised with appropriate services 
being delivered onsite to help mitigate the negative 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Education is 
continuing face to face in Youth Justice centres and 
offered to young people required to isolate, using 
laptops.

Youth Justice continues to supervise children and 
young people subject to community-based Youth 
Justice orders during the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
level of face-to-face support to young people under 
Youth Justice supervision continues to be informed by 
health advice, risks to community safety and the needs 
of young people and their families.

Youth Justice Case Managers have been trained 
during the COVID-19 pandemic in mental health care 
for young people. This involved training in Mental 
Health First Aid and Suicide Prevention and is helping 
case managers identify any issues among those young 
people they are supervising.
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A fair and accessible justice system that supports confidence 
in the Victorian community
This objective relates to the provision of and access to justice services that support legal processes and law 
reform. Services that support legal processes include legal assistance and education services, prosecution 
services and the delivery of independent, expert forensic medical services to the justice system. Other services 
that contribute to this objective include legal policy advice to government, law reform, dispute resolution and 
initiatives focusing on crime prevention and supporting Aboriginal people in the criminal justice system.

Corporate Plan 2021–25 initiatives and projects aligned to this objective
Each initiative in the Corporate Plan aligns to a policy and delivery or supporting priority in the department’s 
Statement of Direction (refer to page 8). Status and progress updates on the initiatives and projects associated 
with this objective during 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Policy and delivery priorities

Delivering evidence-based outcomes

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Financial Counselling 
and Tenancy Programs

In progress Planning, including scope, timing and engagement plans for reviews of financial 
counselling and tenancy programs are underway.

Bail justice reform In progress The review has identified reform options for targeted stakeholder consultation 
to inform the development of reform recommendations for consideration by 
government.

Terrorism Review Complete Stage Two of the Review of the Terrorism (Community Protection) Act 2003 was 
completed in August 2021 and the final report tabled before both houses of 
Parliament on 16 September 2021. The Review found that there is an ongoing need 
for the Act to provide balanced and proportionate powers to protect the Victorian 
community from acts of terrorism and made 12 recommendations to reform the Act. 

Sexual Assault 
Generational Reform

In progress In response to the Victorian Law Reform Commission report, the Victorian 
Government is prioritising legislative reforms to adopt an affirmative model of 
consent and to criminalise stealthing, and also invested an initial $5.2 million 
funding boost to specialist sexual assault services. The department is progressing 
other priority reforms in response to the report’s findings, including the design and 
development of an alternative (online) reporting pathway for sexual offences.

Reducing contact with 
the justice system

In progress The department continually assesses the impact of policy, practice and legislation 
and implements reforms that reduce demand across the justice system, including 
community-focussed programs to intervene early and prevent crime through to 
rehabilitation and reintegration programs for people leaving custody. The 2022–23 
State Budget invested $74.5 million in initiatives to reduce future justice demand 
and reduce the need for new prisons.

Ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Response to the Royal 
Commission into the 
Management of Police 
Informants

In progress 63 of the Commission’s 111 recommendations have been delivered. Key legislation 
has passed to implement the Commission’s recommendations including the 
Special Investigator Act 2021, Police Informants Royal Commission Implementation 
Monitor Act 2021, and the Justice Legislation Amendment (Criminal Procedure 
Disclosure and Other Matters) Act 2022.

Statutory Review 
of the Sentencing 
Amendment 
(Emergency Worker 
Harm) Act 2020

Complete Review complete with finding that emergency worker harm laws are operating as 
intended and recommending ongoing monitoring of the laws as the review was 
impacted by data limitations due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Whole of Victorian 
Government Legal 
Services Review

In progress The Review completed a ‘current state’ assessment of the whole of Victorian 
Government legal services operating model through consultation across all 
departments, the Victorian Government Solicitor’s Office and Victoria Police, with 
a series of action plans drafted as recommendations to achieve a fit for purpose 
legal model. 

The Legal Services Panel was extended for a period of 12 months, with some minor 
amendments to improve efficiency, collaboration, and value-for-money for the 
whole of Victorian Government. 
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Integrating services and tailoring them for local communities

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Regional Aboriginal 
Justice Advisory 
Committees 
determined justice 
programs

Complete Grants are in place with Aboriginal Community Controlled Organisations across 
all nine regions to implement programs and initiatives that progress key priorities 
in Regional Aboriginal Justice Advisory Committees Plans.

Family violence cultural 
safety advisors

Complete A grant is in place with Djirra to deliver cultural safety training to mainstream 
organisations delivering services to Aboriginal people who experience family 
violence. Funding to support this initiative concluded in 2021–22.

Place-based and 
Aboriginal-led Justice 
Projects

In progress Delivery is underway for the Lotjpadhan Restorative Justice project in the 
Hume region, Family Centred Approaches projects in the Barwon South West 
and Southern Metropolitan regions, and the Collaborative Impact project in Far 
East Gippsland (now known as Doombook). Delivery is yet to commence for the 
Lotjpadhan Restorative Justice project in the Eastern Metropolitan region and the 
Family Centred Approaches project in the Gippsland region, where Expression of 
Interest processes are underway.

Koori Women’s Facility 
and Family Centred 
service delivery model

In progress The Family Centred Approaches model has now commenced delivery in several 
regions. 

The Feasibility Study to develop a preferred Aboriginal women’s residential 
model/s is ongoing and includes in depth consultations across the state with 
Aboriginal women under justice supervision and other community stakeholders. 
This project is due to conclude by December 2022.

Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal 
Act Amendment 
(Federal Jurisdiction 
Matters) Bill

Complete Bill received Royal Assent on 10 August 2021. The amendments empower the 
Magistrates’ Court to hear federal jurisdiction matters that the Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal cannot hear.

Youth Justice Act In progress A standalone Youth Justice Act is being developed to provide a contemporary 
legal framework for Victoria’s Youth Justice system and will implement 
recommendations of the Armytage and Ogloff 2017 Youth Justice Review Report. 

Prioritising Victorians in need

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2020

Spent convictions 
scheme

Complete Tranche one of the Spent Convictions Act 2021 commenced in December 2021 
allowing the automatic spending of low-level convictions and creating protection 
against discrimination for spent convictions. Final parts of the Act commenced on 
1 July 2022, establishing a process for the making of Spent Conviction Orders to 
spend more serious convictions.

Community Based 
Youth Diversion 
Programs

Complete Grants are in place with Dardi Munwurro, Aboriginal Wellness Foundation and the 
Victorian Aboriginal Community Services Association Limited to support statewide 
and local youth diversion programs.

Supporting 
achievement of native 
title outcomes

In progress The State attended numerous meditation and court hearings to advance the four 
native title claims on foot. The State complied with all court orders. No native title 
outcomes were achieved in the period.

Meeting of Attorney’s 
General on the Age of 
Criminal Responsibility 
Working Group

In progress A special Meeting of Attorneys-General was held on 12 November 2021. The 
meeting supported development of a proposal to increase the minimum age 
of criminal responsibility from 10 to 12, including any carve outs, timing and 
discussion of implementation requirements. Alongside this national process the 
Victorian Government is continuing work to divert 10 to 13 year old children from 
the criminal justice system, releasing its statement on diversion in April 2022, 
Diversion: keeping young people out of youth justice to lead successful lives and 
Aboriginal youth justice strategy, Wirkara Kulpa.

Review of the Aboriginal 
Community Justice 
Panels 

In progress The Aboriginal Community Justice Panels Review consultation and draft report 
are complete. Awaiting departmental and Victoria Police approval of final report.

Agreements under 
the Traditional Owner 
Settlement Act 2010

In progress No Traditional Owner Settlement Act 2010 agreements were reached in 2021–22 
to resolve native title compensation liabilities. The State reached agreements in 
principle with Dja Dja Wurrung and the Barengi Gadjin negotiation teams. The 
next step is to make final offers to both.
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Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2020

The Baroona 
Youth Healing 
Service (Baroona) 
Redevelopment

In progress Funding agreement is in place to redevelop Baroona. Architect services 
secured and community consultation to inform the infrastructure and program 
development enhancements is underway.

Aboriginal-led review 
of recommendations 
from Aboriginal deaths 
in custody

In progress Grant is in place with the Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service to support the 
Aboriginal Justice Caucus to undertake the review. Recommendations are being 
revisited and progress documented to support Aboriginal-led review.

Aboriginal Justice 
Commissioner

In progress Opportunities to progress this work are being identified in response to community 
calls for greater independent oversight and accountability.

Aboriginal Dispute 
Resolution Team

In progress Program paused in 2021–22.

Rooming house 
sector reforms

In progress The reform streams have been approved and consultation with DFFH commenced. 
The Rooming House Minimum Standard Regulations were extended to 27 February 
2023 to allow for consultation on draft regulations and a Regulatory Impact 
Statement to be undertaken with key stakeholders and the rooming house sector.

Wage theft reforms In progress The Wage Theft Act 2020, including new wage theft offences, commenced on 
1 July 2021 and is enforced by the Wage Inspectorate of Victoria. 

The Magistrates’ Court has developed a new model for disputes heard in the 
Industrial Division, including the resolution of unpaid wage claim, that provides 
a simplified, easy to access pathway that focuses on early intervention.

Victoria Legal Aid 
Strategic Review

Complete Collaborative work by Victoria Legal Aid and the department resulted in an 
updated cost model for Victoria Legal Aid. The update included refreshed demand 
projections for criminal law matters. 

Legislative reform to 
prohibit conversion 
practices

Complete The Change or Suppression (Conversion) Practice Prohibition Act 2021 came into 
effect on 17 February 2022 creating new criminal offences prohibiting change or 
suppression practices. The Act also creates a civil response scheme within the 
Victorian Equal Opportunity and Human Rights Commission to consider and 
respond to reports of change or suppression practices and educate the public 
about the ban on change or suppression practices.

Meetings of Attorney-
General: Defamation

In progress The Stage Two reforms will be progressed for consideration through the Meeting 
of Attorneys-General later in 2022. Work has continued on the Victorian-led policy 
proposal to extend the defence of absolute privilege in order to reduce the chilling 
effect of defamation laws on people reporting sexual harassment and other 
unlawful conduct, including consultations with the Defamation Working Party, 
Expert Reference Groups, other jurisdictions and Victorian stakeholders.

Criminal Organisation 
Control Act 2012 Review

Complete Stage Two of the Review of Victoria’s Criminal Organisation Laws was completed 
in December 2021. Organised crime laws generally were reviewed to identify 
opportunities to improve the Victorian response to criminal organisations 
and organised crime, including improved use of existing legislation, potential 
legislative amendments to other schemes, and other non-legislative approaches.

Justice Legislation 
Further Amendment 
(Criminal Appeals) Bill

In progress First stage reforms have been delayed until 5 July 2025.

Monitoring Places of 
Detention by the United 
Nations Subcommittee 
on Prevention of Torture 
(OPCAT) Bill

In progress Approval in Principle was received in January 2022. 
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Focusing on victims and survivors

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Develop a whole of 
Victorian Government 
strategy and action 
plan to prevent, and 
improve responses to 
sexual harm, violence 
and abuse

In progress The department has progressed initial consultations with key stakeholders, 
including victim-survivors, to inform work to prevent sexual harm and improve 
responses to sexual violence. Consultations to date have shown the complexity 
of these important reforms, and that further time is needed to develop the whole 
of Victorian Government strategy. The department is consolidating feedback 
on potential reform directions, to develop a strategy that will deliver meaningful 
change for Victorians.

Enhance culturally 
appropriate family 
violence legal services

In progress Funding agreements are in place with the Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service and 
Djirra to ensure Aboriginal people have access to culturally safe family violence 
related legal support.

Stolen Generations 
Reparations Package

In progress Applications for the Stolen Generations Reparations Package opened on 31 March 
2022 to recognise the lasting suffering caused by the forced removal of Aboriginal 
children from their families. 

Judicial Proceedings 
Reports Act 1958

Complete Amendments have been made to the Judicial Proceedings Reports Act 1958 to 
make clear that the prohibition on publishing details likely to identify a sex offence 
victim ceases on the victim’s death. The reforms also introduced a new victim 
privacy order scheme for families and close friends of deceased victims.

Independent review 
of sexual harassment 
in courts

In progress The review of sexual harassment in Victorian courts and Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal made four recommendations to the Attorney-General. 
Legislation to implement recommendation 7 was passed in May 2022 and will 
come into effect on 5 April 2023 unless proclaimed sooner. Work is underway 
across the department to address recommendations 5, 15 and 16.

Justice Legislation 
Amendment (Sexual 
Offences and Other 
Matters) Bill 2022

In progress Over 20 stakeholders consulted following supplementary Approval in Principle 
in April 2022. Non-fatal strangulation offence reforms are included in the Justice 
Legislation Amendment (Sexual Offences and Other Matters) Bill 2022.

Evidence 
Amendment Bill

In progress The Bill is to be further considered after NSW tables its review of the Council of 
Attorneys-General approved model Bill, which is due by 30 September 2022.

Strengthening stakeholder partnerships

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Review of the 
Traditional Owner 
Settlement Act 2010 
initial outcomes

In progress The Gunaikurnai Land and Waters Aboriginal Corporation and State negotiation 
teams met several times and are working on achieving a limited set of outcomes 
prior to November 2022.

Review of the 
Traditional Owner 
Settlement Act 2010 
policy and legislative 
framework

In progress The State and Traditional Owner partners to the review concluded the draft report 
and recommendations. The next step is for the Victorian Government to respond 
to recommendations.

Response to the initial 
outcomes review of 
the Traditional Owner 
Settlement Act 2010

In progress The State reached agreement in principle with Dja Dja Wurrung’s negotiation 
team. The next step is to make a final offer.

Open Courts Act 
Further Amendments 
Bill 2020

In progress Approval in Principle was received in December 2019. 

Amendments to the 
Equal Opportunity 
Act 2010

Complete The Equal Opportunity (Religious Exceptions) Amendment Bill 2021 was passed 
in December 2021. From 14 June 2022, religious bodies and schools can only 
discriminate against employees or potential employees where conformity with 
religious beliefs is an inherent requirement of the job, and the individual cannot 
meet that inherent requirement because of their religious belief or activity and the 
discrimination is reasonable and proportionate in the circumstances. The Act also 
prohibits religious bodies and schools from discriminating against people based 
on sex, sexual orientation, lawful sexual activity, marital status, parental status 
and gender identity in other circumstances.
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Supporting Priorities

Delivering evidence-based outcomes

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

AJA4 Monitoring, 
Evaluation and 
Learning Framework

In progress The AJA4 Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Framework was endorsed by 
Aboriginal Justice Caucus and continues to inform monitoring and evaluation 
activity under the Agreement.

Response to the 
Yoorrook Justice 
Commission

In progress The department facilitated the production of evidence to the Yoorrook Justice 
Commission. Two direct requests resulted in the production of documentary 
evidence, and preparations continue for the Commission’s further inquiries.

Owners Corporations 
– Short-stay 
accommodation

In progress The department has completed internal government stakeholder consultation to 
inform the terms of reference and scope of the review.

Investing in technology and digital solutions

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Justice system data 
and technology 
reform strategy

In progress Drafts of the Technology Strategy and Data Strategy have been developed 
for stakeholder consultation and finalisation in 2022. A key deliverable of the 
strategies is the department’s work with Victoria Legal Aid and the Office of Public 
Prosecutions to develop tailored Memorandums of Understanding to allow for the 
regular, formal and controlled sharing of justice system data.

Implement a grants 
management digital 
solution to enhance 
oversight and reporting 
on outcomes for 
Aboriginal people 
in contact with the 
justice system

In progress Work is underway to identify an appropriate digital grants management system.

Key achievements in 2021–22
The key achievements associated with this objective 
for 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Nazi Symbol Ban
The Summary Offences Amendment (Nazi Symbol 
Prohibition) Act 2022 received Royal Assent on 28 June 
2022. The Act, the first of its kind in Australia, creates 
a criminal offence which prohibits a person from 
intentionally displaying a Nazi symbol in a public place 
or in sight of people in a public place if the person 
knows, or ought reasonably to know, that the Nazi 
symbol is a symbol associated with Nazi ideology. The 
Act responds to a recent increase in the public display 
of Nazi symbols, and forms part of the Government’s 
broader commitment to introduce a suite of reforms 
to strengthen anti-vilification protections in Victoria. 
Seven in-depth consultations were held with interfaith 
leaders from the Buddhist, Hindu, Jain and Jewish 
communities to ensure the Act balanced cultural and 
historical significance of the swastika in religious and 
cultural contexts.

Stage Two of the Review of the Terrorism 
(Community Protection) Act 2003
Stage Two of the Review of the Terrorism (Community 
Protection) Act 2003 commenced in early 2021 
and assessed the ongoing need for the Act, and 
its fairness, proportionality and effectiveness. A 
range of stakeholders were consulted, including law 
enforcement and intelligence agencies, legal and 

human rights groups, and multi-faith organisations. 
Public comments were sought through Engage 
Victoria. The final report was tabled in Parliament in 
September 2021 and made 12 recommendations to 
ensure the Act provides effective powers to protect 
the community from terrorism, while strengthening 
safeguards. Parliament passed the Terrorism 
(Community Protection) Amendment Act 2021 in 
November 2021.

Commencement of the Spent 
Convictions Act 2021
The final components of the Spent Convictions Act 
2021 commenced on 1 July 2022. The Act delivers 
on the Victorian Government’s commitment to 
ensure that historical or minor criminal records do 
not continue to unfairly impact on an individual’s 
opportunity to gain employment and fully participate 
in society. The Act makes it unlawful to access 
information on an individual’s spent convictions (in 
most cases) or to discriminate based on a spent 
conviction.

Under the Act, convictions for eligible Victorian 
offences become ‘spent’ (and no longer appear 
on a police check) either immediately, after a 
conviction-free period of five to ten years, or on 
application to the Magistrates’ Court depending on 
the severity of the offence. Very serious convictions, 
including most sexual or serious violence offences 
committed by adults, can never be spent. The Act 
adds spent convictions as a protected attribute 
under the Equal Opportunity Act 2010, preventing 
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discrimination on this basis in most circumstances. 
There remain exemptions for access to, and 
discrimination based on, spent convictions in a 
range of circumstances – including access by law 
enforcement agencies, use under the child and 
family information sharing schemes and a range of 
regulatory and safety functions.

Progress against Burra Lotjpa 
Dunguludja AJA4 milestones
In 2021–22, ninety per cent of AJA4 actions were in 
progress or complete.

In recent years, numbers and rates of Aboriginal 
young people (10–17 years) and adults under justice 
supervision (in community and custody) decreased.

The decreases have been consistent and pronounced 
for Aboriginal young people, and Victoria is ahead 
of the trajectories required to achieve the youth 
detention target in the National Agreement and justice 
supervision target in AJA4.

In 2020–21 there was a significant decrease in the rate 
of Aboriginal adults under justice supervision on an 
average day (driven by decreases in people under 
community-based supervision). The average daily 
number of Aboriginal adults under justice supervision 
fell from 1,729 people in 2019–20 to 1,437 in 2020–21, a 
reduction of 292 people on an average day.

The Victorian Government continues to invest in 
the implementation of the Agreement and related 
strategies and reforms to build on these gains. 

Transfer of land for and funding 
of Dja Dja Wurrung corporate and 
cultural centre
Title to land at Hattam Street was formally returned 
to Dja Dja Wurrung by the Attorney-General on 18 
February 2022 at an event on site. The department has 
provided $9.6 million to Dja Dja Wurrung for planning 
and construction costs. Construction is expected to 
commence in October 2022.  

Establishment of the Stolen Generations 
Reparations Unit 
On 31 March 2022, the Victorian Government opened 
the Stolen Generations Reparations Package. The 
package is to help address the trauma and suffering 
caused by the forced removal of Aboriginal children 
from their families, community, culture, identity 
and language. Access to support services such as 
trauma-informed counselling are made available.

Applicants who are critically ill or terminally ill were 
prioritised for an advanced payment of $20,000 
and the assessment of full applications commenced 
in June 2022. The design of other non-financial 
restorative supports including the establishment of 
the Independent Assessment Panel is underway.
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Victorians are protected with equal opportunities, secure 
identities, information freedoms and privacy rights
This objective aims to support the Victorian community through the provision of services relating to rights and 
equal opportunity, advocacy and guardianship for Victorians with a disability or mental illness and support 
for victims of crime. This objective supports identity protection of Victorians through life event registration, 
protection of children through adoption services and risk assessments for those working with or caring for 
children. The objective also contributes to public sector integrity, information freedoms and privacy protection 
of Victorians.

Corporate Plan 2021–25 initiatives and projects aligned to this objective
Each initiative in the Corporate Plan aligns to a policy and delivery or supporting priority in the department’s 
Statement of Direction (refer to page 8). Status and progress updates on the initiatives and projects associated 
with this objective during 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Policy and delivery priorities

Integrating services and tailoring them for local communities

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Disability Action and 
Cultural Diversity plans

In progress A new Disability Action Plan is under development with a launch date of 
3 December 2022. A new Multicultural and Multi-faith Action Plan is under 
development to replace the existing Cultural Diversity Plan Framework, 
this will be delivered in 2023.

Ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Workers’ compensation 
system arbitration model

In progress On 4 May 2021, the Victorian Government passed legislative amendments 
to the Workplace Injury Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 2013 to 
provide for a new arbitration function within the Accident Compensation 
Conciliation Service. 

Focusing on victims and survivors

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2020

Strengthening Perpetrator 
Accountability

In progress The department has made significant progress towards contributing to 
the development of a system-wide approach to keeping perpetrators 
accountable, connected and responsible for stopping their use of violence. 
Including by expanding the range of programs available, building the evidence 
base about what works and contributing to system wide reform efforts. 
Detailed information on progress made is outlined in the whole of Victorian 
Government Ending Family Violence Annual Report published in April 2022.

Financial assistance 
scheme for victims of crime

In progress Progress throughout 2021–22 focussed on developing the enabling legislation 
which has now become law; consultation and development of operational 
service design and planning for the cornerstone case management 
technology that will enable the Financial Assistance Scheme to operate.

Intermediaries program to 
support vulnerable witness 
court submissions

In progress The Intermediary Program operates in Melbourne, Geelong, Bendigo, and 
Warrnambool courts and nine of the 28 Victorian Police Sexual Offices and 
Child-abuse Investigation Teams locations. As at 31 May 2022, the Intermediary 
Program has received 473 requests for assistance in the 2021–22 financial year.

Victim-survivor informed 
family violence reform

In progress Significant progress has been made towards implementing all Department 
of Justice and Community Safety led Royal Commission into Family Violence 
recommendations with the final four anticipated to be implemented by 
September 2022.

Victim-Centred Restorative 
Justice Program

In progress Consultation on the Victim Centred Restorative Justice Program, including 
consultation with victims of crime has been completed. The Program will be 
ready to start providing services in the second half of 2022.

Victims of Crime 
Commissioner Reporting 
Regulations

In progress To promote compliance with the Victims’ Charter, a new Victim Services 
Support and Reform Feedback, Complaints and Compliments Policy and 
Procedure has been developed and was finalised in early 2022. Targeted 
training is being conducted to support its implementation.
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Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2020

Lead the policy and 
coordination response 
for the department to the 
final report of the Royal 
Commission into Victoria’s 
Mental Health System

In progress During this period, the department progressed foundational service design 
work to respond to justice-connected recommendations to ensure the needs 
of justice clients are embedded throughout the broader mental health and 
wellbeing system.

Victim Statement Complete The Victim Support Update was published by the Minister for Victim Support in 
December 2021.

Prioritising Victorians in need

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Improving the coordination 
of disability supports and 
access to the NDIS for 
people with disability in 
contact with the justice 
system

In progress A 6-month trial of the revised Critical Services Issues Response escalation 
process has commenced. A data sharing memorandum of understanding 
between Victorian Government departments and the National Disability 
Insurance Agency has been agreed. Work on a specific justice schedule 
has commenced.

Department of Justice 
and Community Safety 
response to Royal 
Commission into Violence, 
Abuse, Neglect and 
Exploitation of People with 
Disability

In progress The department has led the preparation of responses to issues papers, 
inputted into a whole of Victorian Government submission, and attended 
roundtables. The department has responded to numerous compulsory 
notices. The Disability Resource Centre, with department support, is actively 
seeking submissions from Victorians with disability in correctional and youth 
justice facilities. 

Implementation of the 
recommendations of the 
Ombudsman’s Review into 
Complex Claims

Complete Recommendation one has been implemented. Peter Rozen KC conducted an 
independent review into the Agent Model for the management of complex 
workers’ compensation claims. The review and government response were 
published on 18 March 2022. 

Recommendation two has been implemented. Legislation to give arbitration 
powers to the Accident Compensation Conciliation Service (Agency) passed 
Parliament on 4 May 2021.

Intersectionality framework In progress The framework is under development informed by a new whole of Victorian 
Government intersectionality community of practice founded by the 
department in 2021. The framework is due for completion in 2023.

Better protections against 
gender discrimination, 
sexual harassment and 
sexual violence in the 
workplace

In progress The Ministerial Taskforce on Workplace Sexual Harassment has provided 
its advice to the Minister for Workplace Safety. The Victorian Government is 
considering its advice.

Response to Disability 
Royal Commission Criminal 
Justice Issues Paper

Complete The department led the preparation of the response which was provided to 
the Royal Commission in December 2020.

Support employee diversity 
and inclusion

In progress The LGBTIQ+ Action Plan has replaced the LGBTI justice strategy and is 
under development, aligning with the whole of Victorian Government 10-year 
Strategy, Pride in Our Future. The disability implementation plan is on track for 
delivery, while the cultural diversity implementation plan was paused due to 
resources being deployed to the COVID-19 pandemic response.

Strengthening stakeholder partnerships

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Strategy for negotiating 
key justice portfolio 
reforms

In progress The strategy was approved by the Board of Management in 2021 and is under 
development.

Better, Connected 
Care Reform

In progress Local Site Executive Committees have been established state-wide. The 
Putting Families First initiative has commenced service in the two pilot areas 
of Brimbank-Melton and Goulburn.
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Supporting priorities

Ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

External oversight of police 
corruption and misconduct 
in Victoria

In progress The Victorian Government response to the Independent Broad-based 
Anti-corruption Commission Committee’s Inquiry is being undertaken 
in conjunction with the review of Police Oversight as recommended by 
Recommendation 61 of the Royal Commission into the Management of Police 
Informants Final Report.

Royal Commission into 
the Management of 
Police Informants – legal 
profession regulation 
recommendations

In progress Implementation of the recommendation relating to Victorian Legal Admissions 
Board information gathering powers is complete. Approval in Principle for 
the mandatory reporting obligation was received in March 2022. A further 
recommendation relating to solicitors’ continuing professional development 
received Approval in Principle in March 2022. 

Legislative amendments 
and review of the Legal 
Profession Uniform Law 
Application Act 2014

In progress A Bill to implement the 34 recommendations is currently being drafted by the 
interjurisdictional Parliamentary Counsels’ Committee. 

Provisional payments for 
emergency workers – pilot

Complete The pilot concluded in 2021 and legislation to implement provisional payments 
for all workers commenced on 1 July 2021.

Family violence workforce 
capability building

In progress Significant department wide family violence capability and capacity uplift has 
been undertaken. The department is delivering Foundational Family Violence 
Training to all staff, with additional training for managers supporting direct 
workplace reports who have experienced family violence. The department is 
also delivering training in the family violence Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
and Management Framework (MARAM) for workforces with a prescribed role in 
the identification, assessment and management of family violence risk in their 
day-to-day work.

Focusing on victims and survivors

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2020

Police Oversight 
review in response to 
Recommendation 61 of 
the Royal Commission into 
the Management of Police 
Informants Final Report

In progress The review conducted extensive targeted stakeholder and public consultation 
processes throughout 2021 and early 2022. In total, the review held over 50 
stakeholder meetings, received 39 submissions and 134 survey responses. 
Following consultation the review prepared reform options for consideration 
by government.

Integrating services and tailoring them for local communities

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Family Violence Multi-
Agency Risk Assessment 
and Management 
Framework

In progress The 2021–22 State Budget included funding for specialist MARAM trainers, 
practice leads and culture change roles to embed MARAM across the justice 
system. These roles have been recruited to and training has commenced in 
prisons as well as an introductory eLearning course available for all staff.

Prioritising Victorians in need

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

WorkCover operational 
and legislative reforms 
to provide support for 
injured workers

In progress An implementation plan for delivery of the Government response to the 
independent review into the Agent Model for the management of complex 
workers’ compensation claims was published on WorkSafe’s website on 
19 May 2022, outlining the steps to implement these reforms throughout 2022 
and 2023.
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Key achievements in 2021–22
The key achievements associated with this objective 
for 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Response to the Royal Commission into 
the Management of Police Informants
Twenty three of the 55 recommendations 
directed to government have been delivered, 
including passage of legislation establishing an 
independent Implementation Monitor, strengthening 
and enhancing criminal procedure disclosure 
requirements, and establishing an independent 
statutory Office of the Special Investigator to 
investigate possible criminal conduct and breaches 
of discipline associated with Victoria Police’s use of 
Ms Gobbo as a human source. Geoffrey Nettle AC KC 
has been appointed as the Special Investigator. 
Significant work is underway to progress all remaining 
recommendations directed to government. The 
Attorney-General released her first progress report to 
Parliament on 30 November 2021, and will provide a 
further report before 30 November 2022.

Launch of the Gender Equality Action Plan
On 8 March 2022, the Secretary launched the 
department’s new Gender Equality Action Plan  
2021–2025. Gender equality is a fundamental human 
right and is integral to our work at the department to 
build a safer, fairer and stronger Victoria. The Plan fulfils 
our obligations under the Gender Equality Act 2020 and 
captures broader reform work to build a more gender 
equitable justice and community safety system and 
workforce. It builds on extensive work that has helped 
the department achieve positive representation of 
women across all levels of our workforce with an overall 
figure of 54 per cent (as at 30 June 2021). We also 
have excellent representation in leadership positions 
with women comprising 60 per cent of our Board of 
Management, 60 per cent of our Executive Leadership 
Team and 56 per cent of our directors and managers. 
The Plan was informed by staff insights about 
their experiences within the department, as well as 
feedback on proposed strategies to advance gender 
equality across policy, frontline and operational 
settings. The Plan is a testament to this positive 
engagement and the commitment of everyone across 
the department to advance equality.

Workplace Incidents Consultative 
Committee
The Committee was established in June 2021 to 
strengthen the voices of Victorians who have been 
affected by serious workplace incidents.

The Committee comprises 15 members, 14 of whom 
have lived experience of a serious workplace incident 
and the ongoing challenges of losing a loved one or 
suffering a serious injury or illness at work. 

Since being established, the Committee has influenced 
the development of key reforms, including legislative 
changes to improve compensation benefits for families 
and who have lost loved ones at work. The Committee 
continues to progress work to support prevention 
of serious workplace incidents and fatalities and 
improving post-incident support.

Stakeholder consultation and design 
of the Legal Services in The Orange Door 
Network pilot
This project has designed a new service delivery 
model for legal service access to victim survivors and 
perpetrators of family violence. The department has 
undertaken extensive stakeholder consultation on an 
approach to piloting the integration of legal services 
within The Orange Door Network. This includes 
consultation with people with lived experience, The 
Orange Door and legal services including Victoria 
Legal Aid, Djirra, Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service 
and Community Legal Centres. The model for piloting 
legal services in The Orange Door has been developed 
with the pilot anticipated to commence in August 
2022 in one The Orange Door area. This will help to 
provide both victim survivors and perpetrators with 
legal support at a critical point of their interaction with 
the service system. An evaluation of the pilot will be 
undertaken to inform future service delivery.

Victims of Crime (Financial Assistance 
Scheme) Act 2022
The new Financial Assistance Scheme for victims of 
crime, is a landmark reform that will deliver financial 
assistance that is trauma-informed and accessible. 
The Victims of Crime (Financial Assistance Scheme) 
Act 2022 received Royal Assent on 7 June 2022. The 
Act establishes the Scheme and includes guiding 
principles that victims should be protected from 
further trauma, intimidation or distress and that the 
needs, safety and wellbeing of victim’s are paramount. 
Victims will have up to three years to make an 
application (10 years for family violence or sexual 
offences) compared to the current two-year deadline 
at the Victims of Crime Assistance Tribunal and the 
amount of Special Financial Assistance will be doubled. 
Victims will also be able to request victim recognition 
statements and victim recognition meetings. 

The 2022–23 State Budget outcome invested 
$39.4 million over four years to operate the new 
Scheme, bringing the total investment to over 
$100 million. The Scheme is expected to open in the 
second half of 2023.

Amendments to the Victims of Crime 
Assistance Act 1996
The Victims of Crime Assistance Act 1996 has been 
amended to protect the safety and wellbeing of victims 
by prohibiting the notification of offenders alleged 
to have committed family violence, sexual offences, 
stalking, threats to kill and threats to commit serious 
injury, from attending Victims of Crime Assistance 
Tribunal hearings. Victims will no longer face the 
perpetrator in these hearings.
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A fair marketplace for Victorian consumers and businesses 
with responsible and sustainable liquor and gambling sectors
This objective relates to harm minimisation through the regulation of the gambling and liquor industries. This 
objective promotes the empowerment of consumers and businesses to know their rights and responsibilities 
to promote a well-functioning market economy through regulation and support to consumers and businesses. 
There is a specific focus on the needs of vulnerable and disadvantaged consumers.

Corporate Plan 2021–25 initiatives and projects aligned to this objective
Each initiative in the Corporate Plan aligns to a policy and delivery or supporting priority in the department’s 
Statement of Direction (refer to page 8). Status and progress updates on the initiatives and projects associated 
with this objective during 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Policy and delivery priorities

Ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Professional Engineers 
Registration Scheme

In progress The registration scheme successfully went live 1 July 2021, with Amendment 
Regulations made 31 August 2021. Service Victoria digital identification 
verification was successfully integrated and went live 1 November 2021, and 
fire safety engineers mandatory registration commenced 1 December 2021. 
The Business Licensing Authority has approved seven assessment schemes, 
covering all five areas of engineering.

Prioritising Victorians in need

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Aboriginal Private Rental 
Access Project

In progress Stage one of the project (research and development of recommendations) is 
complete. Office of the Commissioner for Residential Tenancies is coordinating 
a governance process for implementation of the recommendations.

Better protections for 
retirement and lifestyle 
village residents

In progress Between November 2021 and February 2022, targeted and confidential 
consultation with the Stakeholder Reference Group was undertaken to provide 
details on the reform directions and seek input on specific design details and 
implementation. A summary of over 260 submissions received in response to 
the Options Paper was also released on Engage Victoria in March 2022.

Casino reforms In progress The Government accepted all findings of the Royal Commission and acted in 
October 2021 to deliver nine priority recommendations including establishing 
both the Victorian Gambling and Casino Control Commission and the Special 
Manager from 1 January 2022 to strengthen oversight of Crown Melbourne. 

The Special Manager provided his first Interim Report and Activity Report to 
the Minister and Victorian Gambling and Casino Control Commission in June 
2022. Reforms to strengthen the powers and functions of casino inspectors 
were also delivered in June 2022.

Implement reforms to the 
Residential Tenancies Act 
1997

Complete The Residential Tenancies Amendment Act 2018, and associated regulations 
commenced on 29 March 2021 as intended.

Gambling reform In progress The Casino and Gambling Legislation Amendment Act 2021 established the 
Victorian Gambling and Casino Control Commission which came into effect 
on 1 January 2022. The Act strengthened the powers of the Victorian Gambling 
and Casino Control Commission to hold the casino operator to account and 
increased the maximum fine for disciplinary action from $1 million to $100 
million.

Gambling harm prevention 
initiatives for at-risk 
Victorians

In progress On 14 April 2022, the Minister issued the keno harm minimisation direction, 
which is based on the National Consumer Protection Framework for online 
wagering and is the first such scheme in Australia to apply to online keno.

The implementation of 19 of the 23 recommendations in the YourPlay 
Evaluation Report is underway, with five of the recommendations now fully 
or partially acquitted. 
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Strengthening stakeholder partnerships

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Review of the Liquor 
Control Act 1998

In progress The department has engaged with a member of the Victim Survivors Advisory 
Council and harm reduction stakeholders regarding the inter-relation of family 
violence and alcohol. Amendments to the Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 
that passed in October 2021 include provisions for a definition of harm which 
includes social issues such as family violence. Further work will continue with 
family violence stakeholders to embed a focus on family violence within liquor 
licensing policy.

Gambling licences project In progress On 23 February 2022, following a rigorous selection process by the Victorian 
Gambling and Casino Control Commission and the department, 20-year Keno 
licences were awarded to both Tabcorp and Lottoland, which authorise both 
online and retail keno offerings. The new licences commenced on 15 April 2022.

On 15 June 2022, a Request for Expressions of Interest in the grant of a 
Wagering and Betting Licence was released publicly to market. The deadline 
for Expressions of Interest is 18 August 2022.

Key achievements in 2021–22
The key achievements associated with this objective 
for 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Implementation and administration 
of Professional Engineers Registration 
Act 2019
Consumer Affairs Victoria led the implementation of 
the Professional Engineers Registration Act 2019, which 
for the first time introduced a registration scheme for 
professional engineers in Victoria.

The scheme is co-administered by the Business 
Licensing Authority, Consumer Affairs Victoria and 
the Victorian Building Authority with support from the 
engineering profession. As at 30 June 2022, there were 
4,553 registered engineers across the five areas of 
engineering.

Royal Commission into the Casino 
Operator and Licence
The Royal Commission was established by the 
Governor on 22 February 2021. The Commissioner 
delivered his report to the Governor on the 15 
October 2021. The report found Crown Melbourne 
unsuitable to hold the casino licence and made 
33 recommendations. The government tabled the 
report and its response in Parliament on 26 October 
2021. The government accepted all of the findings 
of the Royal Commission and has acted swiftly to 
respond to the recommendations to strengthen 
oversight over the casino and restore the public’s 
trust in Victoria’s casino regulatory arrangements.

Strengthening the gambling and liquor 
regulators
Responding to the Royal Commission into the Casino 
Operator and Licence, two pieces of legislation 
(Gambling and Liquor Legislation Amendment Bill, 
and the Casino and Liquor Legislation Amendment 
Bill) have passed the Parliament which provide 
the regulator and government more power to hold 
the Casino operator to account for illegal activity, 
including increased fines and investigatory powers. 
The legislation also separates gambling and liquor 
regulators to enhance the focus on their subject areas.

Liquor reforms to revitalise nightlife and 
implement alcohol safety measures
The department undertook liquor reforms which both 
revitalise nightlife after the COVID-19 pandemic, whilst 
also explicitly making harm reduction a key focus of 
the Liquor Control Reform Act 1998. Addressing major 
changes to liquor consumption during the pandemic, 
the amendments now add requirements around online 
delivery of alcohol to protect the community, including 
underage Victorians. The amendments have also 
enabled bars, hotels, restaurants and cafes wanting 
to extend their trading hours from 11pm to 1am to be 
able to do so automatically, without having to apply 
for a change to their licence, subject to any relevant 
council approvals.

Sex work decriminalisation
The Sex Work Decriminalisation Act 2022 was passed 
by the Victorian Parliament on 22 February 2022 and 
supports sex workers’ safety and human rights, aiming 
to ensure that sex work is safe work.

Reforms will commence in two stages under the Act. 
Stage 1 commenced on 10 May 2022 and included the:

• decriminalisation of street-based sex work in most 
locations

• repeal of the requirement for independent sex 
workers to register

• repeal of public health offences under the Sex Work 
Act 1994

• repeal of industry-specific advertising controls
• new anti-discrimination protections in the Equal 

Opportunity Act 2010.

Stage 2 will commence in December 2023.
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Additional initiatives and achievements aligned to supporting 
priorities
Focusing on supporting priorities enables us to realise our policy and delivery priorities and ensure we are in 
the best position to achieve our overall outcomes for the Victorian community. Status and progress updates on 
additional initiatives and achievements aligned to the department’s Statement of Direction’s supporting priorities 
during 2021–22 are outlined below. 

Additional Corporate Plan 2021–25 initiatives aligned to supporting priorities

Ensuring a workforce that is safe and confident

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Safeguarding the health, 
safety and wellbeing of all 
department employees

Complete The department’s new Health, Safety and Wellbeing Strategy 2021–2025 was 
launched by the Secretary in June 2021.

Develop and implement 
the department’s Integrity 
Strategy

In progress Within the Integrity and Investigations team, the Integrity Culture and the 
Intelligence and Detection streams have been established and recruited to. 
Education and training strategies, integrity and welfare risk assessments, and 
a Speak Up program are in progress.

Driving productivity

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

10 year justice asset and 
infrastructure plan

Complete Initial report completed in late 2021, with annual updates commencing in 2022.

Business continuity and 
incident management

Complete A framework to map incidents across the department is complete. To complement 
the framework, business continuity plans for mission critical functions have 
been developed and are tested annually against different risk scenarios.

Procurement policy, 
practices and operation 
reform

In progress The department commenced a review of its existing procurement policy 
and processes and have simplified purchasing under $250,000 and for State 
Purchase Contracts procurement. Development of simplified processes for 
higher value/risk procurement continues.. 

Defining and embedding 
new ways of working which 
enable greater flexibility for 
department employees

In progress Return to Office framework is complete for local executive implementation and 
aligned to the whole of Victorian Government guidelines. 

Investing in technology and digital solutions

Brief Initiative Title Current Status Update as at 30 June 2022

Cyber security uplift In progress Remediation activities to partially address the department’s cyber risk profile 
were undertaken. 269 of 277 legacy servers have been upgraded, replaced 
or decommissioned from the department, with affected workloads migrated 
to the Cenitex Government Shared Platform (GSP) environment. We have 
commenced development of a secure cloud hosting platform, with a view to 
commencing migration of applications in 2022–23. The cloud platform will 
provide greater segmentation, logging, security monitoring, reporting and 
alerting compared to the current on-premises environments.

Key achievements in 2021–22
The key 2021–22 achievements associated with the 
Statement of Direction’s supporting priorities are 
outlined below. 

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Strategy 
2021–2025
The departments new Health, Safety and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2021–25 was launched in June 2021. The 
Strategy outlines the departments vision, mission, 
strategic pillars and priorities to ensure we think safety 

and work safely. The Strategy sets the department’s 
direction, prioritising employee health, safety 
and wellbeing with a strong focus on prevention, 
responsiveness, early intervention and recovery to 
respond to the department’s major health, safety and 
wellbeing risks, including the COVID-19 pandemic, 
hazardous manual handling and occupational 
violence faced by our employees in high-risk custodial 
settings. The Strategy also aligns with the whole of 
Victorian Government approach to improving the 
health, safety and wellbeing of the public sector 
workforce through the Leading the Way framework 
and the mental health and wellbeing charter.
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Launch of the department’s Surge 
Workforce
The department’s Surge Workforce provides a process 
and governance structure to mobilise people quickly 
into high priority, unplanned work that may arise. A 
key component of the model is the surge workforce 
talent pool, where employees of the department 
provide information about their current skills and 
capabilities and register their interest to support their 
colleagues and community when there is urgent work 
that needs attention. 

Development and introduction of the 
department’s COVID-19 Vaccination Policy
The department’s COVID-19 Vaccination Policy was 
developed to meet the department’s Occupational 
Health and Safety Act 2004 requirement to provide 
and maintain a working environment for their 
employees that is safe and without risks to health, 
and support the implementation of relevant legal 
health obligations to protect public health and ensure 
the health and safety of employees and workplace 
participants

Gold level recognition under the Mental 
Health First Aid Skilled Workplace 
Program
This level of recognition demonstrates the 
department’s commitment to implementing the Mental 
Health and Wellbeing Charter objectives including 
providing a mentally healthy workplace for all staff, 
developing a positive culture and empowering workers 
to raise and recognise mental health issues to assist 
colleagues and providing support services to staff.

The department was assessed against a criteria of 
25 actions; of which eight are required to achieve 
gold. The department submitted evidence for 12 of 
the criteria and were acknowledged for the work in 
those 12 criteria areas including ensuring that Mental 
Health First Aiders are accessible for staff across 
a variety of workplaces, regular training is offered 
and opportunities are available to develop skills as a 
Mental Health First Aider beyond the core program.

Launch of the department’s Workplace 
Adjustments Policy
The department launched its first Workplace 
Adjustments Policy which aims to give clear guidance 
on how the department can provide all staff with 
reasonable workplace adjustments. Also referred to 
as ‘reasonable adjustments’, workplace adjustments 
are changes to the work environment, or work 
conditions, to enable people with disability and/or 
health conditions to work safely and productively. 
Workplace adjustments can also be made for 
employees who care for someone with a disability  
and/or health conditions.

Whole of Victorian Government Legal 
Services Review
The Whole of Victorian Government Legal Services 
Review, approved by the Victorian Secretaries Board in 
early 2021, has completed a current state assessment 
and identification of key outcomes to ensure we have 
a fit for purpose operating model. The assessment 
involved consultation across all departments, Victoria 
Police and the Victorian Government Solicitor’s 
Office.  The outcomes identified were endorsed by 
Victorian Secretaries Board and the project has now 
completed a collaborative design exercise across the 
whole of Victorian Government to identify actions that 
can be taken to address the outcomes.  The proposed 
actions look to improve service delivery, value for 
money, internal capacity and capability, and legal 
risks.  Actions also look to drive improved relationships 
with third party legal services (including the legal 
services panel, barristers and the Victorian Managed 
Insurance Authority).

Asset Maintenance and Services 
Contract project
The Asset Maintenance and Services Contract project 
consolidated multiple disparate maintenance and 
facilities contracts across the department. In addition, 
a Content Maintenance Management System (CMMS) 
has been introduced. The CMMS improves reporting 
and tracking of jobs, asset trends and information on 
lifecycle that will inform future investments decisions.

Post Release employment Opportunities
The department has worked to include offenders on 
the list of recognised Disadvantaged Victorians. 

As a result, through negotiation, Post Release 
Employment Opportunities have been embedded as 
part of the contract arrangements with suppliers of the 
Prisoner Shop contracts. The intention is to create post 
release employment for people released from custody 
utilising our supplier base. This will assist in reduction 
in recidivism and the cost associated with the holding 
of offenders in custody.

Stolen Generations Reparation Package 
Application Portal delivered
In Partnership with Aboriginal Justice, the Stolen 
Generations Application Portal was delivered on 
31 March 2022 and supports impacted members of 
the Victorian community to make an application 
for a package. This marks the first stage of an 
iterative delivery of digital solutions to support the 
government’s commitment to recognise the lasting 
suffering caused by forced removal of Aboriginal 
children from their families, culture and Country.
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Five-year financial summary and review of financial 
conditions

($ thousand)

2022 2021 2020 2019 (ii) 2018

Income from government (i) 10,492,255 10,453,907 8,332,983 7,573,700 6,837,664

Total income from transactions 10,804,540 10,604,849 8,457,357 7,718,448 6,957,167

Total expenses from transactions (10,765,269) (10,541,856) (8,463,766)  (7,651,784) (6,937,704)

Net result from transactions 39,271 62,993 (6,409) 66,664 19,463

Net result for the period 43,992 76,983 (18,780) (25,878) 29,824

Net cash flow from operating activities 197,221 302,214 204,031 155,687 88,966

Total assets 7,737,702 6,695,237 5,831,794 5,131,563 4,809,430

Total liabilities 3,007,843 2,711,868 2,161,647 1,857,034 1,753,930

i Income from government includes both output and special appropriations.

ii The 2018–19 comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adoption of AASB 1059 Service concession arrangements: grantors.

Income from government and total income from 
transactions increased in 2021–22 due to:

• Increased funding supplementation for initiatives 
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic including 
the operations of CQV, the extension of the Industry 
Engagement and Enforcement Operation and 
Responding to COVID-19 in Corrections and Youth 
Justice. 

• New funding supplementation was received for the 
Early Retirement Scheme, the one-off recognition 
of provisional payments for the Stolen Generations 
Redress Scheme and the Victoria Police Restorative 
Engagement and Redress Scheme.

• Bushfire Recovery Victoria also received increased 
grants from the Natural Disaster Recovery Trust for 
the State coordinated clean up works undertaken 
throughout the year.

Total expenses from transactions increased in 2021–22 
due to:

• Growth in the employee benefit expenses mainly 
due to the additional staff employed for the 
operations of CQV, the extension of the Industry 
Engagement and Enforcement Operation and 
other COVID-19 initiatives as well as wage growth.

• Introduction of 1 per cent Mental health levy 
from January 2022, increased superannuation 
contributions of 0.5 per cent from July 2021 and 
Early Retirement Scheme offered to eligible 
employees.

• Provisions recognised for the Stolen Generations 
Redress Scheme and Victoria Police Restorative 
Engagement and Redress Schemes payments 
based on actuarial estimates for 2021–22.

• Additional supplies and services expenses for 
the COVID-19 mandatory quarantine and other 
COVID-19 initiatives. 

• The above increases were partly offset by the 
discontinuation of the capital asset charge by 
DTF in 2021–22.

Net result from transactions decreased in 2021–22 
mainly due to the Emergency Management Operational 
Communications Program (EMOCP) trust fund 
which had a reduction in revenue received and an 
increase in expenses funded from revenue received 
in previous years. 

Net result for the period decreased in 2021–22 mainly 
due to the EMOCP as noted above and unrealised 
losses on investments in the Residential Tenancies 
Fund and Victorian Property Fund. This was partly 
offset by the capitalisation of the Emergency Alert 
Phase 4 program which resulted in assets received 
free of charge and a revaluation gain of employee 
entitlement and other redress provisions due to the 
increase in the bond rates as at 30 June 2022.

Total assets increased in 2021–22 mainly due to 
additional capital expenditure for a number of 
government announced initiatives across prisons 
and youth justice centres including the Men’s prison 
system capacity, the Women’s prison capacity and 
the new youth justice facility at Cherry Creek, and 
an increase in statutory receivables owed from the 
Victorian State Government.

Total liabilities increased in 2021–22 mainly due 
to an increase in the statutory payables owed to 
other government agencies, the recognition of 
Early Retirement Scheme provisions and the Stolen 
Generation Redress Scheme and Victoria Police 
Restorative Engagement and Redress Schemes 
provisions.

Detailed financial information about the performance 
of each of the department’s output activities is 
contained in note 4 of the financial statements.  

In general, delivery of services by the output activities 
of the department were within defined budgetary 
objectives.  A comparison of budget and actual 
financial statements is contained under Budget 
Portfolio Outcomes in Appendix 2.
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Disclosure of grants and other transfers (other than 
contributions by owners)

The department has provided assistance to certain companies and organisations. Financial assistance provided 
in 2021–22 was as follows:

Organisation ($ thousand)

Ensuring community safety through policing, law enforcement and crime prevention activities

Victoria Police 4,082,978 

Local Councils 7,912 

Universities and TAFES 481 

Department of Premier and Cabinet 6 

Community Support and Other Groups 11,749 

Sub total 4,103,125 

Reduce the impact of, and consequences from, natural disasters and other emergencies on people, infrastructure, the 
economy and the environment

Fire Rescue Victoria 847,909 

Country Fire Authority 339,270 

Emergency Services Telecommunications Authority 150,304 

Victoria State Emergency Service 71,334 

Department of Jobs Precincts and Regions 32,955 

Local Councils 29,567 

Department of Environment Land Water and Planning 25,598 

Ambulance Victoria 13,999 

Life Saving Victoria 13,597 

Department of Health 5,932 

Department of Families, Fairness, and Housing 2,387 

Department of Education and Training 1,624 

Department of Premier and Cabinet 242 

Universities and TAFES 98 

Community Support and Other Groups 33,330 

Sub total 1,568,145 

Effective management of prisoners and offenders and provision of opportunities for rehabilitation and reparation

Universities and TAFES 11,603 

Department of Health 2,700 

Victorian Aboriginal Legal Services 555 

Department of Premier and Cabinet 59 

Community Support and Other Groups 21,541 

Sub total 36,457 
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Organisation ($ thousand)

Effective supervision of children and young people through the provision of youth justice services promoting rehabilitation

Victorian Aboriginal Legal Services 1,130 

Department of Families, Fairness, and Housing 900 

Department of Premier and Cabinet 9 

Universities and TAFES 5 

Community Support and Other Groups 1,565 

Sub total 3,609 

A fair and accessible justice system that supports confidence in the Victorian community

Victorian Legal Aid 259,800 

Office of Public Prosecutions 96,963 

Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine 48,204 

Victorian Aboriginal Legal Services 17,757 

Sentencing Advisory Council 1,717 

Universities and TAFES 96 

Department of Premier And Cabinet 14 

Community Support and Other Groups 54,213 

Sub total 478,765 

Victorians are protected with equal opportunities, secure identities, information freedoms and privacy rights

Victorian Workcover Authority 450,000 

Victorian Equal Opportunity and Human Rights Commission 9,598 

Department of Health 1,883 

Victorian Legal Aid 450 

Department of Education and Training 177 

Department of Premier and Cabinet 6 

Universities and TAFES 2 

Community Support and Other Groups 13,881 

Sub total 475,997 

A fair marketplace for Victorian consumers and businesses with responsible and sustainable liquor and gambling sectors

Victorian Gambling and Casino Control Commission 44,437 

Court Services Victoria 19,640 

Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation 2,968 

Victorian Workcover Authority 558 

Office of Housing 100 

Department of Premier and Cabinet 4 

Universities and TAFES 2 

Community Support and Other Groups 8,987 

Sub total 76,696 

Total 6,742,793 




	Contents
	Report of Operations
		Responsible Body’s declaration
		Justice and Community Safety ministers and portfolios
		Secretary’s foreword
		About us
		Report of Operations
	Delivering on the department’s objectives
	Ensuring community safety through policing, law enforcement and crime prevention activities
	Reduce the impact of, and consequences from, natural disasters and other emergencies on people, infrastructure, the economy and the environment
	Effective management of prisoners and offenders and provision of opportunities for rehabilitation and reparation
	Effective supervision of children and young people through the provision of youth justice services promoting rehabilitation
	A fair and accessible justice system that supports confidence in the Victorian community
	Victorians are protected with equal opportunities, secure identities, information freedoms and privacy rights
	A fair marketplace for Victorian consumers and businesses with responsible and sustainable liquor and gambling sectors
	Additional initiatives and achievements aligned to supporting priorities

		Five-year financial summary and review of financial conditions
		Disclosure of grants and other transfers (other than contributions by owners)




